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THE END OF OUR
INNOCENCE:

The Chillingworth
Murder Gase

by Donald G. Lester

Florida's "Crime of the Century”™ took
place an the night of June 14-15, 1955,
with the abduwction and murder of Fifs
teenth Judicial Cirenit Judge and Mrs,
Curtis E. Chillingworth of West Palm
Beach. This ghastly eeime was the region's
first noteworthy experience with the
northern urban gangster world of eon-
tract killings and hit men. The fact that
thera was no connection betweon the men
who aetually eommitted the murders and
the Chillingworths made the case ex-
tramely difficult toselve, and, as the years
wenk by, the case seemed destined Lo join
the list of “unsolved mysteries.” The case
was finally solved more than five yvears
after the Chillingworths' disappearance
with the arrest and eonvietion af former
West Palm Beach Municipal Judge Jo-
seph A, Peal,

The Fifteenth Judicial Circuit in 1955
included both Broward and Palm Beach
eounties, and Judge Chillingworth pre-
sided over many trials and hearings in
Broward County. When Broward was cre-
ated in 1915, it was put into the Eleventh
Judicial Circuit along with Dade and Palm
Beach eounties. In 1917, Broward and
Palm Beach counties were placed in the
newly-created Fifteenth Judicial Circait

with E.B, Donnell of West Palm Beach as
judge, Then, in 1923, Curtis E.
Chillingworth of West Palm Beach be-
come the circult judge.

The population of Broward County was
anly abaut 5 (6 in 1520, but as a result of
the boom period during the middle part of
that decade, the population of the county
increased tremendously. Consequently,

the Broward County Bar Association clam-
ored for a new judicial circuit that would
include only Broward County. Their ef-
forta bore firuit in 1927, when the Florida
Legislature passed a bill ereating the
Twenty-second Judicial Circuit. Gover-
nor Martin signed the hill into law and
then followed the recommendation of the
Broward County Bar Association by ap-

Tha Chillingworth murdor ense meds statewide, and even national,
headlines betwesn 1855, when the murders teck place, and 1861, when
aceused murderer Joseph Peel was convicted. Although the morders took
place in Palm Beach County and the trial in St. Lacle Connty, and most of the |
leading flgures were Palm Beach County residents, the case was significant i
to Broward County because the murdered judge, C.E. Chillingwarth, presided
over the Fifteenth Judicial Cireait, of which Broward was a part, and he and
most of the other major individuals involved were famillar figures in
Broward's legal circles, Furthormore, s author Donald G. Lester emphasizes,
the case marked o decided shift in the nature and perception of eriminel
aetivities in southeast Florida as a whaole, a shift which continues to have a
strong impact on the region thirty years later,

Donald G, Lestor 18 Asslstant Professor Emeritus of History and
Political Bcience at Middle Georgin College in Cochran, Georgin, His family
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High School and the University of Miami. He now lives In Glades County. A
| | feeguent contributor to Braeard Legacy, Profossor Loster has written on
number of toples concerning Broward County's political and legal history. He
was recently honored as a Distinguished Lecturer at Middle Georgin College,
anid presented a paper on the Chillingworth case,
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Circult Judge and Mrs, Curtis E. Chillingworth
(Mrs, Chillingworth's photo courtesy of the Fort Lauderdale Sun-Seatinell

pointing Fort Lauwderdale attorney
Vincent C. Giblin, poagibly the most brl-
liant lawyer ever to practics in Broward
courts, as the judge. Alse following the
recommendation of the bar asseciation,
Martin appointed Fort Lauderdale Mu-
nicipal Judge Lowis F. Mairestateattorney
of the newly-created circuit.

Vineent C. Giblin impressed the vast
mapority of Broward lawyers with his
legal brilliance, Many seemed mesmer-
ized by the depth of his legal knowledge.
Giblin praved ta be o tough, no-nonsense
judge who took his duties as well as him-
gelf very seriously, and his high-handed
tactics arcused criticism in many quar-
ters. Giblin seemed headed for his day of
reckoning i a suitable opponent could be
found for the fortheoming 1928 election.
Fort Lauderdale attorney Gearge W.
Tedder, Sr. accepted the challenge and
filed agninst Giblin. The vast majority af
Broward County Bar Association mem-
bers supported Giblin, but two Fort
Lauderdale lawyers, Dwight L. Hogers
andJohn E. Morris, became Tedder's cam-
paign managers. The Giblin forces
stressod the incumbent's legal knowledge
and his high standing with the bar, while
Tedder engaged in anold fashioned Ameri-
can papulist compaign and stated that he
would be a “people’s judge and not a
lawyers' judge.” Tedder overcame the op-
position of the vast majority of Broward

County lawyers and scored an impressive
wvictary. Beepose of & Giblin th&]]t:‘l!ﬁ-. he
did not assume affiee until 19292

A referendum held at the time of the
19534 general election resulted in the num-
ber of Florida judictal cirewits being
reduced from twenty-eight to fifteen. Az a
result, in 1935, the Florida Legislature
put Broward County back into the Fif-
teenth Judicial Cirewit with Palm Beach
County. This time, however, the circuit
would have two judges, one holding court
in West Palm Beach and one in Fort
Lauderdala. Thus Chillingworth and
Tedder remained in office with the same
duties as before, but with jurisdiction
over the enlarged circuit. The two state
attornays were to complote their current
term and then run for reelection aver the
enlarged circwit, Louis F. Maire had just
been reclected state attorney in the
Twenty-second Judicial Cireait, In 1938
Fhillip D, 0"Connel] of West Palm Beach
became state attorney for the Fifteenth
Circuit, and Maire stepped down to the
position of assistant state attormey, bit
with the same duties as before. As a reault
ol the population increase during the years
following Woerld War 11, the circuit was
awarded two additional judges—Joseph
White in West Palm Beach and Lamar
Warren in Fort Lauderdale.?

Until 1943, the pesition of circuit judge
rested upon gubernatorial appeintment,

but the tradition had long been estab-
lished that the governor would appaint
the winner of the Democratic primary
and that the appointment would be sub-
ject to the approval of the Florida Senate,
The offices of state attorney and supervi-
gor of registration followed the same
procedure.”

Curtis Eugene Chillingworth was born
in West Palm Beach October 24, 1894,
two yvears after the incorporation of the
town and thirteen years before the cre-
ation of Palm Beach County. He was the
gon of Charles Curtis Chillingworth, the
first municipal attorney in West Palm
Beach. He was the grandson of Richard J.
Chillingwarth, the first mayor of West
Falm Beach, who had also served from
1896 to 1901 as sherifT of Dade County, of
which Palm Beach County was then a
part. Curtis E. Chillingworth graduated
from Palm Beach High Schoolin 1913 and
four years later received a law degrees
from the University of Florida. Upon his
graduation, Chillingworth and his father
formed a partnership under the name
C.C. and C.E. Chillingworth. By this time
the United States had entered World War
I, and so the young lawyer answered the
call to the eolors and served in the navy as
an ensign. Afber the Armistice, he was
discharged from the navy, although he
remained in the naval reserve. He re-
turned to his law practice in 1919, In



Broward Legacy — 13

1920}, nt the age of twenty-four, Curtis E.
Chillingworth wis elected county judge.
In 1922 he entered the Democratic pri-
mary as a candidate for judge of the
Fifteenth Judicial Cireuit. He told the
voters, “I am not a politician, and 1 know
nathing of politics, although | am, always
have beon, and will continue tobe a Dema-
crat.” Chillingworth won the Democratic
primary and in due tme was appolnted
judge of the Fifteenth Judieial Cireuit by
Governor Cary A, Hardee. Approval of
the Florida Senate scon followed, At that
time Chillingworth was the youngest man
ta hald the pesition of circuit judge in the
histery of Flerida, He was reslected to
that post throughout his life, having with
one excepiion no opposition for the posi-
tion, He obtained a leave of absence from
heis dutses ﬂuﬁng World War Jl, i which
e gervied wiith distinetion asacommuander
an active duty in the United States Naval
Hesorve, Judge Chillingworth was an ac-
tive member of the Masons and Shriners,
the Elks, the American Legion, the Re-
tary Club, and various bar associations,
He performed invaluable work as a mem-
ber of the Florida Judicial Comenbssian in
redrafting the Florida rules of eriminal
procedure, Om Movember 6, 1920, Judge
Chillingworth married Marjorie Croude
MeKinley, Three daughters were born of
that marriage. Judge Chillingworth was
one of the most distinguished public ser-

Judge Joseph A. Peel, Jr.
(photo courtesy of the
Sun-Sentinel).

vants in Florida history. As o judge he
wits wise, sigacious, utterly impartial,
and of impeccable integrity. He brought
bo the court a brilliant mind and devel-
oped & reputation as a legal statesman as
well ns a legal giant. He was often cited as
the idenl judge, an example of how a judge
should conduct himsalf. Howewer, as the
gecond half of the twentieth century got
underway, thers was another judge work-
ing on the periphery of Florida's judicial
gyetem that took the opposite approach,
the road of crime and plunder. S0 the
Chillingworth tragedy can also be called
“The Story of Two Judges.®

Jezeph Alexander Pesl, Jr. wasbornin
West Palm Beach September 24, 1824,
the son of the owner of 0 small hotel. The
Peels were well liked and respected; there
wits no evidence of any future scandal
H'lrll:. wﬂu]-d. T ] g l.]'.u: Eﬁmﬂy i PN ..]'meph
Peel received his secondary school eduea-
tion at Riverside Military Academy in
Gainesville, Georgia, a school which at
that time had winter quarters in Holly-
word, Florida. After graduation, Peel
gerved three and cne-half years in the
infantry during World War II, most of
that time in combat in the Scuth Pacifie.
After his army discharge, he entered
Stetson University. While his grades were
somewhat above average, Peel’s great
suctess CAME 88 a4 campus palitician. He
was the chief organizer and promater of
the Stetson Veterans Club, His winning
personality enabled him to make many
friends at the university. Joseph A, Peal,
Jr. graduated from Stetson University
with a law degree in 1549, and, after
admission to thebar, started his law prac-
tice in West Palm Beach in asscciation
with John RB. Beacham. Beacham, who
had served in the Florida Senate since
1933 mnd was president of that body in
1941, was one of the most powerfial politi-
cians in Flarida,

Peel's asspciation with Beacham gave
him a chanee to form many vseful con-
tacts, and at that early age he seemed
headed for a successful political career.
dohn R, Beacham died suddenly om Octo-
ber 21, 1950, at the age of fifty-twoa, In
May 1950, Peel had been appointed Ad
Litem (alternate) judge of the West Palm
Beach Municipal Court. He resigrned that
position in 1951 to sccept an appointment
to the newly-created position of eity pros-
ecutor. In 1962, Joseph Peel decided to try
his hand at electoral politics and an-
nounced his candidacy for the pesition of
judge of the West Palm Beach Municipal
Court. One of his campaign workers was
a new arrival from Oklahoma, Floyd A.
i Lucky) Holzapfel, who was to play a very
impartant part in Peel’s future career,

Peel took advantage of his many per-

sonal contacts, his winning personality,
his impressive appearance, and his im-
peceable manners to win support. He
provied that he knew how to gather in the
vabes. Onelection day, he rode the crest of
a wave of personal popularity to score o
landslide victory, receiving & clemr major-
ity over the combined votes of his four
opponents. In fact, Joseph A. Peel, Jr.
received the largest vote ever received by
a candidate in West Palm Beach history,
and seamed certain to be ot the start of an
impressive political carcer. In 1951, Peel
had married a college schoolmate, the
beautiful Imogene Clark of Lake City.
Sinee service during World War I had
delayed Peel’s entry intocollege, Imogene
graduated from Stetson ahead of him.
She then taught school until their mar-
rlage*

The position of municipal judge was a
part-tima job, and theincumbent received
only asmall stipend, sowhile holding that
position Peel continued in the private
prisctice of law. At the same time, he let
greed and utter lack of moral fiber get the
best of him, and soon became involved in
the balita, moonshine, and prostitution
rackets in West Palm Beach. In his posi-
tion as municipal judge, Peel would sign
search warrants, and then, for a price,
notify those establishments tobe searched.
In 1953 he received a stifl public repri-
mand from Judge C.E. Chillingworth for
representing both sides in a divoroe case.
The reason that the punishment was not
miore severs was Ehat Chillingworth toak
into consideration Peel’s youth and inex-
perience. Im spite of that public
embarrassment, Peel was reclected mu-
micipal judge by a substantinl majority,
proving once again that he knew how to
"gather in the votes,” However, quite a
numberof unsavory characters kept show-
ing up in his office, a situation which
became 80 noticeable that & number of
West Palm Beach lawyers cautioned Peel
that he needed a "better class of clients,™

Shortly after Peel's impressive reelec-
tion victery, he was again in trouble
because of his mishandling of another
divorce case, Thiz time the potential
troulle far Peel was far more serious, in
that ke had to face disharment proceed-
ings. There is also a general belief that
Judge Chillingworth was becoming sus-
picious of possible racketeoring activities
on Peal's part. State Attormey Phillip D
D'Connell of West Palm Beach was also
puspicious of Peel, because the municipal
judge displayed such an affluent lifestyle.
While Peel received o small stipend for
his public office, and while his private
practice consisbed mainly of the less
wenalthy elements of gociety, both Negroes
and poor whites, he seemed to be living
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“high on the hog.” O'Connell naturally
wondered as to the sourse of his addi-
tional income. Willinm Barnes, then chief

of detectives, remained mystified as to |

why, after receiving such good tips on the
lecation of illegal operations and securing
proper search warrants, nothing could be
found. He knew that there must be a
“leak,” but at that time did not suspect the
municipal judge as the source of the “leak.”
During his career as municipal judge,
Peel alse formed o business arrangement
with two undesirnble characters. Thay
were Floyd A. (Lacky) Holzapfel, who had
worked in Peel's successful 1952 election
campaign, and Geerge [N, (Bobby) Lin-
eoln, & prominent Megro from Riviera
Beach.?

Floyd A. {Lucky) Holzapfel wos barnin
Empaorin, Kansas, ondune 19, 1924, Atan
early age he moved with his family to
Oklahoma City, He attended school in
that state before serving ns a paratrooper
inthe Eighty-second Airborne Division in
Europe during World War 11. He received
the Purple Heart for wounds received
during military action, After receiving an

honarable discharge, Holzapfel attended |

eollege first at Central State (Oklahoma)
College, then at Oklahoma City Univer-
sity. Apparently during this time he had
ambitions of becoming a lawyer, but his
unsavory charscter would deny him that
goal. During a vacation he was arreated in

e ey 4 \
Floyd A. (Lucky) Holzapfel

(photo courtesy of the
Sun-Sentinel).

Loz Angeles and sentenced to sixty days
for bookmaking. His college career was
completely derailed when, in 1947, ke
was sentenced to five vears in prison after
arrest and conviction for armed robbery.
Holzapiel was pardoned in 1949 and
moved to Florida. He became friends with
dJoseph Peel after Peel represented him
on a fulse arrest charge and won a gmall
settlement for him.*

Floyd Holzapfel in the meantime
worked as a salesman, m carpenter’s
helper, & sarvice station attendant, and
became aective in the Jayeees and the
Young Kepublican Club. He further be-
cama invelved in politics by campaigning
hard for Joseph Peel in Peel's first suc-
eesglul effort to become municipal judge,
Holzapfel was also reported to have been
a leader in the Cub Seouts,

The third member of the gruesome trio
that was central to the racketeering that
wis taking place in West Palm Bench was
George D. (Bobby) Lincoln. About the
sume age 88 Peel and Halzapfel, Lincoln
aperated two pool rooms and a small tuxi
cabbusiness. Expanding his activitics, he
became involved in moonshine activity as
well ms the numbers racket. Lineoln was
congidered the boss of his neighborhood,
and many black people were afraid of
him. As he continued to expand his illegal
activities, Lincoln moved some of his ap-
crations to Weast Palm Beach, While
enjoving profitable enterprises, Linesln
found himself under the jurisdiction af
Municipal Judge Joseph A. Peel, Jr, Lin-
coln first met Peel in 1954, when Holzapfel
appreached him and told him in nouneer-
tain terms that if he expected to stay in
business, he would have to buy probection
from Peel. So Judge Peel and moonshiner
Lincoln had a mesting during which Lin
coln agreed to pay Peal £50 a month. So
Peel, Holzapfel, and Lincoln formed an
informal business associntion to make a
substantial profit from the various viee
operations that were taking place in West
Palm Beach.

Joseph A, Peel lived in o world of fan-
tasy. He seemed to assume that by
continuing his eacketsening activities he
could be assured of a financial base that
would enable him to climb to the top

| politically. He entertained hopes of be-

coming county solicitor or state attorney,
and assumed that achieving either of those
pesitions would enable him ta control all
ofthelocnl vice operations. He alsoseemed
to assume that the wealth thus gained
wauld propel him into the governors chir
in Tallahassee, This ambiticn was sheer
fantaszy, because even had Peel been able
to achieve the status of *boss”™ of Palm
Beach County there is no resson to be-

| lieve that he eould have kept state and

especinlly federal officials “off his back.”
During the decade of the 19508 the fed-
eral government was taking much interest
in the misdeeds of local officials. In fact,
the decade began with the Kefauver in-
vestigations that resulted in the downfall
of Bherifl Walter K. Clark of Broward
County. So if Peel was at all realistic, he
would have realized that he should be
micre caatiows and show more restraing, ™

In spite of his high ambitions, Joseph
Peel spon becamae concerned that hiscrime
operation was beginning tounravel, After
the public reprimand in 1953, 0 number of
peaple were becoming suspicions of Peel's
activities. As mentioned previously, State
Attorney Phil O0°Connell of Wesat Palm
Beach wondered how Peel could afford
such an affluent lifestyle on his meager
public salary and the financial caliber of
hig known clients, Chief of Detectives
William Barnes was frustrated because
after Judge Peel signed one search war-
rant after another, police raids time and
time again turned up empty. On Novem.
ber 18, 1954, a Lincoln sedan owned by
Peel and driven by Floyd Albert Holza-
plel, skidded into a parked car at a traffic
light at Dixie and Twelith Street in West,
Palm Beach, Holzapfel was charged with
reckless driving and causing an accident
by failing to have his car under control,

| and causing personal injuries. He was

scheduled to appear before Judge Peel o
few days later, but no report on the dispo-
sition of the case is contained in the Ales.
At that time Holzapfel listed his age at
thirty years and his ocoupation as a car-
penter. Criticisms of the municipal court
operations under Peel led toa verbal blast
from City Commissioner LW, Kelloway,
which resulted in Peel filing a £10,000
slander suit against Kelloway. The case
never came to trail. In 19565 Pesl was
focing o second set of charges of profies-
sional misconduct, for mishandling a
divoree case. Judge Curtise E.
Chillingworth taok the initistive in inves-
tigating Peel's performance, leaving Peel

| concerned that Chillingworth’s investi-

gation would result in his disbarment.
Peel was alsoe afraid that Chillingworth
was becoming aware of the Peel criminal
enterprises. The hearing on Peel's mis-
handling ofthe diverce case was scheduled
for June 10, 1855 before Circuit Judge
Joseph White of West Palm Bench, Pecl
putin an appearance before Judge White
that day. The seeond hearing wis sched-
uled for the fateful and infamous day of
Jume 15, 1955, Peel failed to show up.
Judge Curtis E. Chillingworth and his
wife Marjorie were spending the surnmer
months at their beach house in
Manalapan, just sowth of Lake Worth. On
the night of Junes 14, 1955 the
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The Chillingworih bench house at Manalapan
(photo courtesy of the Sun-Sentinel).

Chillingwoerths attended a party in Palm
Beach. The judge was scheduled to hald a
hearing at 10:00 the following merning. A
building contractor went to the
Chillingwoerth®s beach house b 8:00 A_M.
on June 15th to keep an appointment
with the judge regarding some minar re-
pairs, but the usually punctual judge was
not thera. After a fruitless search of the
premises, the contractar called the judge's
office, but the jurist was not there either,
When Judge Chillingwoarth did not ahow
up for the 10 AM. hearing, the souwrt-
house officials sensed that something was
wrong sinee the judge was very punctual
and always took his duties very seriously.
Cireunt Jud‘.pu -,Il:tﬁ-l:']:il'l “"h'il..l:. then the
only other crcuit judge in Palm Beech

County, received word of the mystery and |

immediately activated local law enforee-
mienit agencies. Now began one of the most
grueling and intensive investigations in
law enforcement annals and perhaps the
cnly murder ease in which not a sbngle bit
of remains was ever found.

Az the investigation began, officers
swarmed over the Chillingworth prop-
erty. The house itsell seemed to be in
order, and the couple's two cars were in
the garage. The porch light had been
smashed, and theofficers found twopart]y-
used rolls of adhesive tope. There were
Blocd ataing on and around the wooden
stairs leading to the beach. Laboratory
analysis determined that the blocd on the
stairs was the same blood type as Mrs,
Chillingworth's.

Investigators soon learmned that the

Chillingworths had attended a party in
Palm Beach the night before, and left the
party about :30 P.M. to drive homa, The
couple would have arrived home about
10:00 P.M. Between that time and the
contractor's discovery about ten hours
later, something unspeakably prucsome
had sccurred. But what was it? Officers
wierg gure that some kind of violence had
befallen the eouple—robbery and abdue-
tion at least, or possibly kidnapping for
ransom? But no ransom demands ever
arrived, leading authorities to consider
the strong possibility of abduction mur-
der."

When the news of the Chillingworth
d.'isu.'ppcaram WS l;lnn[:-um:!ﬂ, the puh-
lee wasstunned, Farl [auderdalealtwney
Jahn E. Morris, Sr., a friend of the jurist
for many years, said that he was “shoched
and distressed” when e received the news.
“1 fizel quite coneerned as a lawyer and a
citizen and would be glad to make a con-
tribution toa reward for the captureof the
guilty parties, if that would be acceptable
to the law enforcement authorities. We
vught to do anything and everything pos-
gible to see that justice is done in this
shocking affair,” he said. Another
Chillingwaorth friend of long standing, Fort

Lauderdale attorney Hugh Lester, saidof |

the missing jurist, “He is the best judgein
Florida.” Broward Circuit Judge Emerni-
tus George W. Tedder, Br. recalled that he
and Judge Chillingworth began their ju-
dicial duties on the same day. "We were
imducted inko office the first Monday in

January 1923, he as county court judgeof |

Palm Beach County, and I went in s
county court judge of Madison County.”
The jurizts had met only & few times while
they served on their respective county
court benches, but after Judge Tedder
moved to Broward County in 1925, they
developed a close friendship, "His disap-
pearance iz certainly a shock for many
reasons. [ loved him almost as a brother.”
Judge Tedder cited the missing jurist “as
having one of the keenest legal minds
that [ know of, He was one of the finest
men that [ ever became associated with.
Wewarked completely without friction.™

In this estimation, Tedder was in com-
plete agreement with his ancient enemy
Dade Cireuit Judge Vincent C. Giblin."
The Dade jurist seid that he had known
Chillingworth for mare than thirty years,
and added, “I think that he is one of the
maost respected and beloved judges in the
entire state. [t would be a great loss to the
state if his keen knowledge of the law, his
experience, and his understanding were
lost.” Judpe Giblin said that he eonaid-
ercd the missing jurist “one of my best
friends.” During a recent session of the
legislature, Giblin had worked closely with
the West Palm Beach judge in seeking an
extension of the period of residency for
divarce astion from ninety days Lo one
year. Judge Chillingworth was interested
inthe matter as head of the judicial coun-
wil, while .]udgl; (iblin was interested as
head of the group's legizlative commitbee.

The missing Cireuit Judge Curtis Eu-
gene Chillingworth lacked just three
wiscks senjority to rank as the dean of
Flerida's circuit judges. The day before
his disappearance, Chillingworth had
started his thirty-third year as a cireuit
eourt judpe, having been appointed to the
bench on June 14, 1923, Judge L.I. Parks
of Tampa, the dean of Floridas circuit
judges, was appointed May 15, 1923."
Alzaslightly shead of Judge Chillingworth
in seniority was Judge W. T. Harrison of
Bradenton, who was appointed June 8,
1323.1.

In the weeks surrounding the
Chillingworths' disappearance, the career
of Judge Joseph A Peel, Jr. took o dra-
matic downward turn, Already under
suspicion by Judge Chillingworth, State
Attorney Phil O'Connell, and Chief of
Detectives William Barnes, Peel remained
in trouble for the mishandling of another
diverce cagse, Fifteen daye after Peel's
failure to appear before Judge Joseph
White on the fateful day of June 15, 1855,
White ordered additional court action
ngninst Peel. Phil 0'Connell filed disbar-
ment proceedings on July Tth, Hearings
were then held before Judgo Larmar War-
renof Fort Lauderdale, who handed down
a ninety day disbarment for “dishonest
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condust and unprofessional acta.” Two

weeks afterward, Peel resigned from his |
ownjudgeship, After Peel's departure from |

the municipal bench, Chief of Detectives
William Barnes noticed that with Peel's
guccessor signing the search warrants,
the ensuing police raids were now suc-
ceaaful. Thirty-seven years later Judge
Warren recalled his impressions of Peel.
*He was of average height, somewhat
slender, fairly good looking, and he dressed
witll. On the oeeagion above he was re-
spectiul, courteous, gentlemanly, and
exhibited an ensy going manner, | re-
member that much about the hearing
because there wis some tension in the air
with which [ was not familiar,™"

After Peel's ninety day suspension pe-
rid was completed, he was back in the
law business, In 1956 he formed an asso-
ciation with ﬂﬁrl.j'-_ﬂ:lr\-nH Harald l:':'ra.}r.
Peal's dark aide now began toemerge. His
actions from this date forward caused law
enforcement officials such as State Attor-
ney Phil O'"Connell, Sheriff John Kirk,
and Chiof of Detectives William Barnes to
speculate as to the possibility that Peal
eight be implicated in the Chillingworth
disappearance. Through insurance sales-
man James Yenzer, Peel took out a
100 0k life insurance policy on Gray,
with himself as the sole beneficiary. Peal
did nat netify Gray of the policy, Gray
noticed that a steady stream of unsavary
characters kept coming into Peel's office.
Particularly noticeable was Floyd A
(Lucky) Holzapfel. Gray complained to
Peel about the undesirables frequenting
the office, pointing out that this type of
client was giving the office a bad name.
After Gray's complaint, Holzapfel's visits
became less frequent.

It wasa cald, rainy December 12, 1956,
when Joe Peel and Harold Gray decided
to stop at the Chi Chi Club in West Palm
Beach. The club was closed temporarily
because of a court dispute, Peel zaid that
he wanted to buy some liguor for the
holidays, and produced a key Lo the place,
While Peel hung back, Gray went inside
to find a light awitch. Suddenly someone
Jumped out of the dark and started land-
ing blows on Gray's head with a black-
Jack. The blows kept coming. Peel held
back and made no effort to assist Geay,
who finally recognized his assailant as
Holzapfel. The plan was botched when
Gray was able to escape the murderous
aszault by ranning outside the club. Real-
izing that the murder plan had failed,
Helzapfel did not follow the victim to the

street. People passing by wore alertod by
the noise, and Peel was alarmed. Only

then did he decide to show support for
Gray, so he drove his luckless partner to
o hospital. Peel's excuse for his slow re-

sponsa was that he was trying to tele-
phone for help, Holzapfel turned himself
in and was charged with attempted first
degres murder by County Bolicitor Charles
MNugent. AL the teial Holzapfel elaimed
gell defense ina normal fist fight, brought
an by Gray's remarks against Holzapfel

and his wife. Then came & surprise wit- |

nezs, Francis Camarida, who gave a local
address and testified that he was in the
Chi Chi Club and witnessed the fight. The
witness backed Holzapfel's contention that
the fight was just an ordinary argument.
The testimony of the surprise witness had
its desired effect — the six man jury
aequitted Holzapfel. After the tnal, the
surprise witness, who had given a phony
address, disappesred and has not been
St SNce,

Eventually, the authorities learned of
the 2100,000 Life insurance palicy on Gray
issued to Peel, With this new svidenes,
Mugent decided te take the insurance
fraud route and charged Peel with being
a principal in the secondary degree to
pasaulting Gray with intent to kill. Peel
and Holzapfel were charged with conspir-
ing te commit the murder. In & separate
case, Jumes Yenzer, the insurancs agent
whosold the $100,000ife insurance policy

to Peel, was charged with an August 1, |
1856 attempt to kill Gray in a conspiracy |

with Peel. This alleged attack coourred in
Gray's West Palm Beachapartment, when
Gray wasslugged from behind and pushed
inta a bathtub full of water, In the mean-
time, the insurance company cancelled
the insurance palicy and fired Yenzer,
Holzapfel and Peel were charged with
anattempd to kill Gray in one indictment;
another charged Peel wath assault to kill
by aiding, abetting, and stherwise pro-
curing Holzapfel to commit the assault

| uponGreay. Joe Peel and Lucky Holzaplel,

along with James Yenzer, also were
charged with planning the murder of Gray,
with Yenzer providing the insurance
pelicy. Solicitor Mugent charged that Peal
and Holzapfel needed the cash to satisfy a
gumbling debt of several thousand dol-
lurs.

After lengthy legal arguments on the
day of the trail, Criminal Court Judge
Edward G. Newell sustained a motion to
quash the single case against Peel, ruling
on a close point of law, Nugent appealed
the ruling and won o reversal, Soddenly,
in 1958, Joseph A, Peel resigned from the
barin fece of disharment proceedings, His
withdrawal left no chance of reinstate-
ment. Peel gave as his reason his
invalvement in the construction industry.
Nugent then dropped the murder case, as
he had the others, A crucial witness hoad
turned reluctant,

Nevertheless, the Gray attempted

murder episode convinced State Attorney
Fhillip D. O'Connell and certain police
officers that there was adefinite dark side
to Joe Peel, Behind his affability, smile,
and warm handshakes; Peel had a mean
streak, even o cruel streak. 0"Connell and
some police officers scon became convinoad
that Joe Peel and Lucky Holzapfel were
prgl;uhl_'p invalved in the j'B‘t-ul'l&D]\"Ed
Chillingworth case.

The Chillingworth mystery dragged
an year after year. Many pecple were
beginning to doubt that the case would
ever be solved. However, certain law en-
forcement officials remained determined
to golve the case. This group included
Sherilf John Kirk, William Barnes, the
former chiefof detectives who had become
chief of palice, and State Attorney Fhil
O'"Connell of West Palm Beach. Phillip I,
O'"Connell was a long time friend of the
miissing jurist, and above all a dedicated
puhblicservant. Mora then any other single
individual, Phil 0'Connell was determined
that the Chillingworth case would be
solved.

Phillip D, 0°Connell was born in Ma-
con, Georgin, October 1, 1907, His father
was a farmer, who alse bred horses for
racing, Phil attended public schools in
Wiest Palm Beach and Macon, graduating
from Lanier High School in Macon in
1925 and from the University of Florida
with a Bachelor of Law degres in 1531.
OConnell was a star on the boxing team
during his student days, He was South-
ern Canference boxing champion in 1929
- 1830, eaptain of the baxing team in 1930,
and boxing eosch in 1931, At the Univer-
sity of Florida, he was also a member of
the Blue Key honor socbety and the Alpha
Tau Omega fraternity.

In arder to finamee his law school ax-
penses, O'Connell turned to professional
boxing. He boxed professionally for two
years and had a very impressive record.
He piled up a record of sixty fights, ama-
teur and professional, without n defeat,
In due time he reached the main event
class, O"Connell’s big chance comein 1931
whien he faced the highly regarded Willard
Brown, an Indianapolis welter weight.
Early in the bout Brown landed a vicious
punch which resulted in o broken jaw for
OConnell, who lasted the ben rounds, but
lost the decision by o wide margin, Thus
O*Conmell suffered his only baxing defieat.
He was rushed to the hospital, As a result
of this experience, he decided that boxing
was o terrible way to make a living and
wenl back to full time law studios.

O'Gonnell established his law practice
i West Palm Beach in 1931, He was
elected Municipal Judge of West Palm
Beach the following year and sarved in
that position from April 1932 until 1936,



__ Broward Legacy — 17

State Attorney Phillip I, O0'Connell

(photo eourtesy of the
Stn-Sentined).

For a while during the decade of the
18308, 'Connell “kept a hand® in the
boxing business by referesing various
fights. On July 23, 1934, he referced the
Joe Knight-Clyde Chastain fight in Mi-
ami. That bout was between two light
heavyweights that were ranked in the
world's first five. O'Connell became nesis-
tant state attorney of the Fifteenth
Judicial Cirewit in June 1937 and served
in that capacity until 1939, On July 1,
1939, 0'Connell becume state attorney,
During World War 11, Phil O'Connell re-
ceived a leave of absence and entered the
United States Army as a first lieutenant
on March 1, 1942, He was released on
Januvary 26, 1946, as lieutenant colonel,
after having served eversens in the Euro-
pean Theater of Operations. He received
the Branze Star medal and the French
Croix. After discharge from active duty,
DConnell remained a colonel inthe United
States Army Infantry Reserve.®

While ('Connell searched for answers
in the frustrating Chillingworth case,
Lucky Holzapfel had been frequenting
Miami, He was discovered as security
chief at a big hatel in Miami Beach, with
James Yenzer as his assistant. An inves-
tigation by the Dade County state attorney
resulted in their discharge.

As the years went by, it looked as
lh::lugh the Chillingworth case would re-
main unsalved. However, Phil O"'Connel

refused to give up. As mentioned previ-
ously, he had suspected that Joe Feel and
Lucky Helzapfel were heavily invelved.
He also suspected George I ( Bobby) Lin-
colnbecause ofthe lntter's close association
with Peel and Holzapfel. Sa, O'Connell
increasingly focused on the wnsavory tri-
umvirate of Peel, Holzapfel, and Lincaln,

He hoped that it would be passible to turn |

each of the suspected culprits against
each other.

FConnell was not the anly one to sus-
pect Peel and Holzapfel. Ssan after the
ivestigntion started, William Barnes,
then chief of detectives, asked Detective
Serpeant “Dec™ Weishanr, whowas known
for his “street savvy®, “Doc, if Judge
Chillingworth had been home (in West
Falm Beach) when he digappeared, who
do you think we would pick up firsi?™
Weishanr replied, “Mr. Barnes, I'd pick
up the same s.0.b.5 that you are thinking
about,” Barnes asked, "Well, who am 1
thinking about, Doc™ The reply, “Mr.

| Joseph Peel and Floyd Helzapfel.” Barnes

gaid, “That is exactly who [ would pick
up. ™

Eventually Lucky Haolzapfel was ar-
rested for the theft of a cache of guns in
Dade County. Metro palice also feigned
an attempt to arrest Haolzapfels partner

in erime, James Yenzer. The autharities |

had begun using Yenzer in an attempt to
crack the Chillingworth case by turning
Peel and Halzapfel against each other.

The investigators” strategy began to
work. Yonzer scon yielded to pressure
and decided to save himself. He began to
talk. He told the authorities that Peel was
fearful that Holzapfel had toe much on
hiem and so must be eliminated. Peel had
tried to talk Yenzer into killing Holzapfel,
but Yenzer claimed he was not willing to
gothat far inaiding Pecl's criminal activi-
ties. However, Yenzer had previously been
willing to play & part in the attempted
murder of Harold Gray. Mo doubt, Yenzer
thought that Holzapfel would be tootough
to handle, However, in spite of his ex-
pressod doubts concerning Holzapfel's
reliability, Peel had formed a business
connection with Holzapfel. They sct up n
frondulent securities operation incentral
Florida. But Holzapfel, once convicted of
the arms theft in Miami and free on bond
during appeal, fled to Brazil, which had
no extradition treaty with the United
States.

P.O. (Jim) Wilber, a bail bondsman
and former cop, was another friend of Pesl
and Holzapfel. They had become ac.
quainted when Peel was serving as
municipal judge. The authorities were
able to convince Wilber to cooperate in
their investigation of the Chillingworth
caze, and put him to work inan attempt to

lure Holzapfel back to the United States,
Wilber, at state expense, telephoned Hol-
eaplie]l many times in the following months,
himting that Pesl had besn sesn with
Holzapfel's wife and was swindling him
in their securities business.

Months after he flew to Rio deJaneiro,
Holzapfiel returned to Florida, thistime o
a miotel room in Melbaurne, AR the matel
Holzapfel's love of liquor set the stage for
his wndoing. Thera he was reundted with
his old friends Jim Wilber and James
Yonzer, The three men drank heavily and
talked about old times. State investign-
tors Ross Anderson and Henry Lovern
were in an adpining room. Holzapfel,
Wilber, and Yenzer were talking into a
hidden microphone, while Anderson and
Lovern were baping the conversations next
daor,

The st up in the Melbourme motel
riamm was fantasticand required coopera-
tion from the manager and the night
telep]:mnu operatorto suceeed, Both knew
that Boom 127 was ""|.'-ugg|..~c|.' and that
Anderson and Lovern were in adjacent
Room 129 with recording equipment.

A major problem was a ventilating fan
im Hoom 127. Preliminary tests ahowed
hidden microphones would not pick up
conversation if the fan was turned on.
After two doys of drinking, Holzapfel be-

Florida Sheriff's Bureaw
Investigator Henry Lovern
{photo courtesy of the
Sun-Sentinel).
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gan to talk about the Chillingworth mur-
ders. Lovern was listening to the ear
phones, when someons in Room 127 turned
an the fan. Desperate, Lovern picked up
the telephone and called the next door
room. Holzapfel answered. Impersonat-
ing the motel manager, Lovern asked to
have the fan shut offbecause the guesta in
the adjcining rooms were complaining
about the noise, "Shut off that g— d—
fan,” Holzupfel shouted. Someone did, and
the recording rolled on loud and clear,

Holzapfiel went on with his drunken
talk and told of the Chillingworth abdue-
tion and murder. The state authorities
then went into Koom 127 and grabbed
Holzapfel, who did not resist, Now, with
Floyd Helzapfel in custody, the state au-
thorities bagan tosubject him tointensive
questioning. Finally Halzapfel confessed
his part in the Chillingworth murder. The
gocount was ms follows:

Judge Joseph Peel of the West Palm
Beach Municipal Court was afraid that
Judge Chillingwoerth was aware of Peel's
involvement in the various rackets that
were taking place in Wost Palm Beach at
that time. Peel was afraid that
Chillingworth was about to disbar him.
Sa Peel contacted Holzapfel and George
D (Bobby) Lincoln to dispose of the men-
acing judge. The night of June 14-15,
1955 was clear, and the ocean was calm,
Holzapfel and Lincoln set out from a dock
in Riviera Beach in a small inboard motor
boat. Offshore they went south to
Manalapan and the Chillingworth home,

After beaching the boat and keeping the |

matar runming, the two made theke way to
the house. Holzapfel, wearing a yachting
cap and blue shirt, aroused the sleeping
Chillingworths by knocking on the door.
He was prepared to gain entry by claim-
ing his boat was in trouble. When the
jl.]dge opened the door, Holzapfel drew a
pistol. Holzapfel whistled to Lincoln, con-
cealed in the shrubbery, and ordered him

to knock out the parch light. Holzapfel |

was chagrined to find Mre, Chillingwarth
present. Peol had told him that Mrs,
Chillingworth would not be there. The
killers fastened nooses arcund the couple's
necks, binding their arms behind them.
Tape was used to gag them. In the bed-
room, Holzapfel took two ten dollar bills
to make it appear as o robbery.

Lincoln led the judge out toward the
boat, Holzapfel followed with Mrs.
Chillingworth. As she descended the
stairs, her gag worked loose and she
allzrm::d. Heolzapfiel struck her with his
pistol, opening wounds and dropping blood
into the bushes lining the stairway. The
killars put the victims into the beat and
sailed out into the occenn, When they got
far enough from shore, the killers fas-

tened weights arewnd Mres. Chillingworth |

and pushed her overboard. She sank from
sight. The killers continued with the
murderous task and pushed Judge
Chillingworth overboard. The judge’sown

| weights failed to pull him under, and he

atruggled to awim. The Killers grabbed
him and beat him with a shotgun and
then tied an anchor arcund his neck. This
time he sank from sight and dizsappeared
forever.

The killers estimated the time at just
past midnight. With the motor stalling, it
took them hours to return to Riviera
Beach. Several guns, unused rope, wn-

used gloves, and everything else that was |
used in the erime were dropped over- |
board. After thear return o Riviera Beach,

Holzapfel telephoned Pesl, °1 fixed the
mobor,” he said. Those words were the
prearranged signal bo announce the com-

| pleted murder.®

At the preliminary hearing, Holzapfel
took the witness chair and dramatically,
at times in a choked voice, confossed that
he and Lincoln murdered the
Chillingworths, and that Peel later told

him that he had to kill Phil 0"Connell. “As |
the political boss of Palm Besch County,” |

Holzapfel said, O'Connell stood in the
way of Peel's rise to political power and
influence. Holzapfel said, “A couple of
days before my arrest in Melbourne | sat
and told Jiem Wilber that people who had
done what | had done and what Joe Peel
had done and what Bobby Lincoln had
done, should be stomped out like cock-
roaches, becouse they arent fit to live
with decent people.”

Joseph A Peel was now ina securities

business with J, Donald Miles, a thirty- |

ane year old Eau Gallie plumber. AsJames
Yenzer had told the authorities, Pesl, who
had been concerned that Judge

Chillingworth would thwart his caresr, |

now decided that Holzapfel was a *looas
end.” “He had too much on me,” Peel was
later quoted ns saving. So, Peel decided
that Holzapfiel must be eliminated. Peel
and Miles decided that, to protect them-
selves, they must hire someone to kill
Holzapfel. Peel contacted James Yenzer
and asked him todothe job. Yenzer ngreed

| todothe jobfora price, But what Peel did I
not know was that Yenzer had already

agreed towork as an undercover agent for
the Florida law enforcement officials, and,
s previously noted, reported the transne-
tion to law aficers,

Joseph A, Peel and J. Donald Miles
wirre arrested Oetober 5, 1980, and were
charged with plotting the murder of Floyd

| A. Holzapfel. Peel first seomed ready to

talk, Fhil 0'Connell later reported. He
seemed to be ready to trade immunity for
testimony against Lucky Helzapfel and

Bobby Lincoln, concerning the
Chillingworth murders and possibly other
murders as well. 0'Connell would not
deal ®

Bond was set ot 325,000 cach, The two
suspects put up the required amount and
were released. Peel then dropped out of
sight. The authorities had no idea where
he was or how to reach him.

In the meantime, Phil O"Conanell was
putting the selution af the Chillingwarth
case together. He was able to get a cam-
plete confession from Holzapfel, but he
wanted further evidence. ('Connell
wanted tobe sure of n conviction, when he
went to trial. Considering each of the
gruesome trio of Peal, Holzapfel, and Lin-
coln, O'Connell decided to go after the
least of them firat. He focused his atten-
tion on George D (Bobby) Lincoln, who
was serving a three year sentence in the
federal penitentiary for moonshining.
O'Connell affered Lincoln complete im-
munity in exchange for his cooperation
and testimony agminst Peel and Holza-
plel. Lincoln accepted the offer.™

Floyd Holzapfel was indicted by the
grand jury on three counts of murder; the
Chillingworths' and that of Jacksenville
movnshiner Lew Harvey. By this time
Phil 0'"Connell was ready to close the
case. He was ready for trial, but there was
one groblem, The chief cul prit, the boss of
the whole criminal operation, “the big-
gest fish of all® was nowhere to be seen.
The law officers determined to locate Peel
and take him intocustody had one contact
with the elusive former judge — Poel's
partner, J. Donald Miles of Eau Gallie.
The offictals put pressure on Miles. They
let him know that he was about to be left
"holding the bag.” They impressed upon
Miles that unless he cooperated with the
effarts to locate Peel, he would have to
bear the full weight of the prosecuticn all
by himself. 8o Miles decided to be practi-
eal. Hedecided that it was moreimportant
tasave himselfthan it was to protect Peel,
and agreed to work with the lvw enforee-
mént afficers,

Joe Peel's travels took him to many
aities: Macon, Atlanta, Charlotte, and Mew
York City. Miles got in telephone contact
with Peel and arranged for a meeting at
the Patton Hotel in Chattancogs, Ton-
nessee, in arder to talk over mutual
problems. Miles got to Chattancoga by
means of a Trailways bus and arrived at
the hotel a day ahead of Peel, who trav-
elled by plane. Pesl checked in at the
hotel, but shortly thereafter was seized by
a contingent of lvw enforcement officers
led by Bheriff John Kirk of Palm Beach
County, Florida, and SherilT John B.
Turner of Hamilton County, Tennesses.
Peel was placed in the local jail and
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The 5t. Lucie County Courthouse in Fort Pieree, where the Peel murder
trinl was held (photo courtesy of the Sun-Senfinel).

Cirenit Judge DLC. Smith
iphoto courtesy of the
Sun-Senfinel).

awalbed extradition. When he waived ex-
tradition, he was flown to West Palm
Beach. ™

Mews of the arrest of former Municipal
JudgeJoseph A. Peel for the Chillingworth
murders created o sensation in the local,
state, and notional news. Many people
cpma tothe mrpartto laok at what g senyed

to bean unlikely suspect. Peel strode from |

the plane looking more like & returning
celebrity than an accused felon, Cne
woman onlooker exclaimed, "He doesn
lock like a killer. He Iooks like a school
teacher.™

Peel prompily proclaimed his inno-
cence, He gaid that his travels around the
country shauld in no way be construed ns
an attempt to evade the law. He added
that he had kept in towch with his badl
bandsman.

Mow with Peel and Holzapfel in local
custody and Linceln secure in federal
custody, Phil 0°Connell prepared the for-
mal charges to be presented to the grand
jury. Holzapfel and Lincoln gave their
testimony concerning the brutal crime.
Foel attompted to gain his release by
claiming that Holzapfel's confession wis

nat sufficient reason to hold him. Palm |

Bench County Judge Robert Robbins de-
nicd the metion. Joseph A, Peal, Jr., former
West Palm Beach municipal judge, was

then indicted on two counts accessory
before the fact of first degree murder, one
for the murder of Judge Curtis E.
Chillingworth, the other for the murderof
Mrs. Marjorie Chillingworth.

Now came ang important matter that
needed to be settled — where the trial
should be held. With the widespread pub-
licity surrounding the case, the
widespread acquaintanceship of 80 many
people with the Chillingworths, and the
familiarity of s0 many people with Joe
Peel, n trinl in Palm Beach or Broward
counties was out of the question, Prob-
ably none ofthe Fifteenth Judicial Cireuit
judgeswould be acceptable to the defense.
With the seeming impossibility of secor-
ing judge or jury in the judicial circuit, a
change of venue was obviously in order.
OConnell suggested Dkeechobee ns the
trial site. Finally the change of venue was
granted, but Fort Pierce was selected as
the city to hold the mest sensational mur-
der trinl in Florida's histary,

The Peel murder trial took place in the
Afty-year-old 5t. Lucis County courthouse
with Judge D.C. Smith of Vers Beach
presiding. Judge Smith was born in 1806,
when his mother was on a visit to Penn-
g¥lvania, Soon after the birth, his mother
returned to Florida. Judge Smith had
spent his entire life in the Fort Pierce-
Vere Beach aren, Graduating from the
University of Florida Law School in 1929,
Smith had started hislaw practice in Fort
Pierce. He had served for ten years on the
Bt, Lucie County Commission, before
moving to Vero Beach in 1950, He became
prosecuting atterney for Indian River
County in 1952 and retained that poaition
uniil ke was appointed judge of the Ninth
Judicial Cireuit in 1957, Smith was elected
to a two-year term in 1958 and reelected
to & full sixsyenr term in 1960, He had a
reputation of being learned in the law and
of complete judicial fairness, Smith was
determined that Peel would receive n fisir
trial.®

Heading the team of prosecutors wis
long-time state attorney Phil O'Connell of
West Palm Beach, ("Conmell had a bull
dog tenacity and was sbsalutely certain of
Peel's guilt. He was determined to secure
a conviction and was going to seck the
death penalty, To shore up the prosecu-
ticn and to make sure that there were no
slip-ups that might result in & mistrial or,
even worse, nn acquittal, 0'Connell ab-
tained the services of Eugene Spellman,
assistant state attorney in Dade County,
who was congidered an expert in the pro-
cess of cross examination. ™ O'Connell was
alse nssisted by Assistant State Attorney
Charles R.B. Brown of Palm Beach
County,

The chiel defense atborney was thirty-
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aight-year-old Carlton L. Weleh of Jack-
somville, whoe was & college mate and
fraternity brother of Peel during their
Stetson days, At first Welch was nsked by
the Peel family tosecurea lawyer far their
embattled kinsman. After a fruitless
agarch for a lawyer who was both willing
and able to handle Peel's defense, Welch
reported to the Peel family that he was
anichle to find an mttorney whao was will-
ing to take the case. The Peel family then
asked Weleh to take the case himself
Welch felt that he was under obligation to
Peel, becanse of a personal favor Peel did
for him during their Stetson days, and so
he agreed to take the case. He took the
ease pro bono, since the Peel family said
that they lacked the inancial resources to
pay the usual fise.™

Carlton Welch was a veteran of World
War 1. He had left college in 1941 to join
theCanadian Air Fores, and in 1943 trans-
ferred to the American Army Air Force,
He was shot down over Germany and
spent some time in 8 German prisener of
WAr CRImp. After the war ended, Welch
recntéred Stetson University and grado-
ated with a law degree in 1850, after
which he “hung out his shingle® in Jack-
sonville. As he took the case, Welch
emphasized that he wes not w criminal
|aw-_l,'|:r. He secured the services of Fort
Pieree attarney Jack L. Ropers to aid in
jury salection,®

An so the trial of former West Palm
Beach Municipal Judge Joseph A, Peel,
Jr., Florida's most sensational murder
trial of the sentury, began on Monday,
March 6, 1961, at the fifty-year-old St.
Lucie County courthouse with Judge
Smith presiding. Jury selection began

with the call of 124 prospective jurcars to

report to the courthouse on March 6, OF

that number twelve jurars and two alter-
ruabes were to be selected. The prosecution
and the defense were each allowed ten
peremptory challenges, that is they could
excuse ben prospective jurars without ex.
planation. Any number of the prospective
jurars could be challenged for cause, which
eould include expression of prejudice, re-
Lation to any one of the participants, ete.
Also in a murder case, such ns the Peel
case, where the prosecution was demand-
ing the death penalty, opposition to capital
punishment would be considered suffi-
chenl cause Lo eXcuse 8 proapective juror
It took almost twe dave before twelve
jurors and two alternates wore seated.
Carlton L. Welch for the defense used
nine peremptory challenges and Phillip
D, O"Connell for the prosecution used
geven. The flerce exchanges belwean
O'Connell and Welch that were to con-
tinwe until the conclusion of the trial
started early during jury selection. Welch,
while addressing n prospectave juror, afm-
plained about the prosecution demanding
thedeath penalty, Welch called O'Connell
“blosdthirsly” for expressing such an atti-
tude. O'Connell immediately jumped to
his feet, but before the state sbttorney
could say anything, Judge Smith said,
“phjection sustained.” The judge then ad-
maonished Welch on proper court room
bahaviar,™

The jury selection process resulted in
the seating of an all male .'ilJ!"!.'. Interest-
ingly the jurors finally selected included a
number of State Read Department em-
ployess—iwo of them brothers—and an

| mssortment of farmers, emall business-

Defense attorney Carlton L. Welch
iphoto courtesy of the
Sun-Senlinel).

The jury which heard the Peal case, Foreman Ruhl L. Day is at far right
(photo courtesy of the Sun-Sentinel).
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men, and retirees. The eriginal jury poal
wins reduced from 124 to 107 when seven-
teen ware unabla to serve for one reason
or ancther. When the twelve jurors and
two alternates were seabed, twenty-five
prospective jurors were left out of the 107,
Members of the twelve man jury included:
Charles B. Cook, a retired Comst Guard
officer; Herschel Carlisle, a road depart-
ment worker; Stanley W. Hill, a cerment
block manufacturer; John Ellston, a road
department guard; Ray Cantrell, a super-
visor for the Florida Power and Light
Company: Elmer F. Hansen, a self em-
ployed carpenter; Cyril Gles, a retired
teacher; W, Durward Maddox, a construe-
tion warker; Ruhl I, Day, a tomato grower;
William I. Evers, a furniture dealer; 1LW.
Harman, a service station manager; snd
Fred Carlisle, a brother of Herschel nnd
also & road department employes, The
two alternates were; Ralph W. Dart, gro-
cir; and Earl D, Abler, a retired
Washington, [).C. police licutenant,
With the jury selection finally com-
pleted, the trial was ready to begin. A
rumor suddenly circulated that Holzapfel
was offered a $100,000 bribe tochange his
testimony, O'Connell wanted Holzapfol
called as a court witness so he could be
eross examined an the alleged bribe affer,
Welch objected to Holzapiel being called
as a state witness and added that he saw
ni reason for Holzapfel te change his
testimony now. He said that Holzapfel
had been kopt under hesvy guard and
“away from the Peel family or any part of
it,” and that there was no way for angrone
to approach Holzaplel with a bribe offer,
The rumor was found Lo be without sub-
stance, and the issue dropped from sight.
The first witnesa called was Robert L.
Force, n West Palm Beach carpenter, who
told the court about going to the
Chillingworth home with his boss at B:00
AM,, June 15, 1956 to repair a window in
the beach house, "The Judge who usually
metusin frontofthe garage wasn't there,”
he related. "We looked in the garage and
the cars were there, We tried the door and
found it unlocked and we hollered in.”
Force gaid that he and his employer en-
tered the house and found it empty. “We
had a premonition that semething wasn'i
right, because the judge was punctual.®
He continued, "When you had an appaint-
mant with Judge Chillingworth, you had
better be there, He was there waiting for
you and that was it.” Force said that the
bed had been slept in and the covers were
turned back as they would be when a
person anses. The rest of the questions
and answers proceeded along the same
lines, Foree was excused after testifving
about thirty minutes. The next witness
wing Sam . Quincey, n West Palm Beach

Joseph Peel arriving at the St Lucie County Courthouse for his murder
trial (photo courtesy of the Sun-Sentinel).

phatographer, whose appearance towched
ofla battle between 0'Connelland Welch.

Defenae attorney Welch had obtained
a copy of Holzapfel’s grand jury testi-
mony. Welch's purpose was to impeach
Holzapfel, since he had perjured himself
during grand jury bestimony years before.
Throughowt the trial the jury “beat a
steady path” from the jury box to the jury
rovm as 'Connell and Welch wrangled
over several points of law and Welch's
constant motions for a mistrial. On one

oocagion the jury had just returned to the |

Jury box and was seated just thres min-
utes when Welch made another mistrial
maotion. Omee sguin the jurors walked
*the familiar path® back to the jury reom,
At one ocepsion Welch moved for o mis-
trial on the grounds that O'Connell was
projudicing the jury against his client, [t
would seem that was what 0'Connell was
supposed to do. Judge Smith denied the
motion. However, Welch did score one
significant victory when he fnally got
Judgpe Smith to reverse himself and order
the releasa of the tapes that contained
Halzapfel's maotel conversation, as will be
detailed later in this account.

Lucky Holzapfel testifled that he and
Bobby Lineoln had murdered the
Chillingwertha, He said they sommitted
the barbarons act because of the orders of
Joe Pesl. Holzapfel said that Peel was
afraid that Chillingworth was suspicious
of Pieel's racketeering activities, and was

afraid that Chillingwerth would ruin him.
Headded that “we did it for Joe.™ Halzapfel
said that he had admired Peel very much
and added, “1 hunted with him, 1 cam-
paigned for him, and I worked for him.®
Helzapiel had to fmce vigorows cross ex-
amination from Welch, wha attempted to
prove that Holzapfel had previcusly lied
under cath, therefore his present testi-
mony should not be accepted at face valwe.
Holzapfel admitted previous acts of per-
jury, but insisted that his present
testimony was the whole truth. During
the eross examination, Welch said, "Peal
didn’t push anybody overboard, did he™
Holzapfel answered, "Mo! He got other
people to do it for him.®

As the trial progressed, Welch's strat-
ey started tobecome clear. Hewas ready
to admit that Peel was engaged in rack-
eteering enterprises as a judge. He was
willing to admit that Peel was engrged in
eriminal conduct in his post judicial ca-
reer. He was even ready to admit that
Peal plotted to arrange for Holzapfels
murder, but Carlton Welch was going to
ingist to the end of the trial that Joe Peel
had nothing to do with the murders of
Judge and Mrs. C.E, Chillingwerth.

Carlton L. Welch charged that a mys-
terious figure aided in the Chillingworth
murder, that a car was parked behind the
Chillingworth house to prevent the
couple’s escape, and that Bobby Lineoln
was not even present during the murder-



23 — Broward Legacy

ous event. Holzapfel denied all of Welch's
contentions, Welch asked Holzapfel, “Isn't
it o foct that Lincoln was not actually
ul-l;lrlﬂ;, bt Just n ]:m.:,n--zl'f man for }'nu?'
Holzapfiel denied the contention. Then
Weleh tried a different approach. He asked
if Holzapfel's hatred of Peel was based on
a rumored illicit affair between his wifie
and Peel. 0'Connell made » thunderous
ohjection, which was sustained. ™

F.O. {(Jim) Wilber, a West Palm Beach
bail bondsman, a former cop, and an erst-
while friend of both Peel and Holzapfel
testified that Peel admitted to him once
that he got rid of Chillingworth because
the judge “was out to get me.” Wilber said
that he asked Peel why he had done the
job an the judge. The reply was: “It was
either that s.0b. or me™ Wilber testified
that he was retained by Peel to bail cut
any member of his operation, Sa that he
would know who were his clients, Wilber
issued cards to about two dozen bolita
{numbers) pushers and sellers,

Morman Hart, a twenty-eight-year-old
West Palm Beach advertising man, testi-
fied that he had rented a back room of his
shop to Peel and Holzapfel for several
weeks, for use in counting the proceeds of
a bolita operation. Hart wes selected as
the Junior Chamber of Commerce “Man
of the Year™ in West Palm Beach in 1957
for his work as the general chairman of &
festival, Peel had been “Man of the Year™
in 1854 %

William Tennant of Jupiter, who testi-
fed that he sold the boat used in the
murder to Holzapfel, told how Holzapfil
sat in his car in the bright sunshine and
near the rolling surl of the Atlantic and
ealmly stuffed lead sinkers into the pock-
ets of an army surplus eartridge belt two
days before the Chillingworths disap-
peared. Assistant prosecutor Eugens
Spellman asked, “Did you ask him why he
was doing that™ The witness replied, *He
eaid that he was going ekin diving, He had
a speargun, snorkel (underwater breath-
ing deviee), and a mask on the seat,

Other witnesses were W.H. Lawrence,
former Palm Beach County deputy sher-
iI:'FI who was sent to the ﬂhi]!lng'l.um'ﬂ':
house when the twa carpenters reparted
the house emply and the vsually pune-
tual judge missing, and John B. Hiatt,
West Palm Beach lavwyer and former F.I.1,
agent, who was in charge of the federal
imvestigation in the county at the time of
the murders. Lawrence told of finding
evidence that something had coourred
during the night at Manalapan, He said
that he found clothing of the judge on one
chair and that of his wife on another,
blood stains on the staireay, and barefoot
impressions in the sands left wet by high
tide. Hiatt identified spools of adhesive

tape used to bind and gag the couple
before their deaths,

Throughout the trial, Carlion Welch
maintained that someone other than
Bobby Lincoln was in the murder boat
with Holzapfel, that Holzapfel commitied
the murders under arders from someons
other than Peel, and that Holzapfel iden-

tified Peel in order to please O'Connell. |

Welch claimed that by cooperating with
O'Connell, Holzapfel hoped to escape the
electricchair. Welch pounded on the point

| that Holzaplel confessed and implicated

Peel to escape execution for the 1858
death of Jacksonville moonshiner Lew
Harvey, for which Holzapfel had been
indicted, Welch demanded to know why
Holzapfel had nat been brought to trial for
the Harvey murder. “Ifit were me,” Welch
cantinuwed, “I'd likely confess to nine mur-
ders to be declared insane or to atfract
leniency. This goes to the very element of
the caze as to why he is westifying here
teday, The jury is still waiting for an
enlightenment as to why a man would
plead guilty to two murders of such a
heinous nature.” O'Connell replied, “He
has pleaded guilty to two capital crimes,
What more can a man plead to?™ 0'Connell
said that he gave the Chillingworth case
precedence over the Harvey cose because
hie considered it more important.

Circuit Judge Joseph White testified

| aboutthedisbarment proceedings against
[ Pegl, Judge White related how a woman

client complained that Peel had told her
that she was divorced when in fuct she
waa not. She had subsequently remarried
thinking she was divarced, Because of the
complaing Judge White started an inves-
tigation, and explained to the jury that, in
cireuit court of Falm Beach County, one of
the two judges makes an investigation in
such proceedings and submits a recom-
mendation to the other jurist, who gives
the decision. Peel was to have appeared in
coart June 15, 1955, the lﬂﬂ.}' of the mur-
der, but he failed to appear. His atiorney
also failed to appear. Judge White was
asked if he knew Peel. *Yes, | know Jo-
seph,” was the reply.

Carlton Welch touched ofl anew the
angry clashes with O'Connell by the fram-
ing of his guestions ms he tried to get
Judge White to affirm a deposition he
gave the defense February 22 on his asso-
ciation with the Peel disbarment
proceedings. “That was a silly answer,”
snid Judge White in a sell reprimand, "1
am in no position bto say how Judge
Chillingwoarth would have acted.” Welch

| persisted forareply and in his attempts to
have Judge White confirm that a pretrial
hearing scheduled before Judge
Chillingworth on the morning of his dis-
| appearnnce was a factor in the case. The

Circeuit Judge Joseph White.

PO, (Jim) Willser
iphoto courtesy of Sun-Serntinel),
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case waa an appeal far retrinl of 8 Negro
found guilty of murdering a Belle Glade
policeman. Welch charged that it was a
probable motive for another to kill Judge
Chillingworth or to have him slain.
O'Connell roared, “Let’s go into every
eriminal trial since Judge Chillingworth
went an the bench in 192317

The jury was directed by Judge Smith
toleave the room for the third time in four
hours when Welch announced after the
exchange that “l want to make the same
mation that | made yesterday.” He had
unsuccessfully moved for a mistrial the
previous duy, Welch requested the second
motion after he had attempted to ques-
tionJudge White about the 1955 fall grand
Jury investigation in Palm Beach County,
saying the probe began after Peel had
resigned from the bench and gambling
became flagrant in West Palm Beach.
D'Connell roared that the comparison was
absurd, noting that the then-county so-
licitor was invelved, that Joseph Peal was
investigated and that Holzapfel did naot
tell the whole truth to the grand jury.™

Carlton Welch then moved for a mis-
trial on grounds that 0'Connell made an
effort to prejudice the trial jury against
Peel. The motion was denied, and the
Judge recalled the jury, The defense coun-
eel resumed his efforts to have Judge
White affiren making the staterment abgut
the outcome of the disbarment proceed-
ings, and the prosecution again raised
vigorous ohjections. Welch once more
asked tohave the jury excused. The jurors
hadbeenseated only three minutes, Welch
made his gecond mistrial motion in a few
minutes, protesting that O'Connell was
guilty of misconduct for framing state-
mentsin the form of guestions and seeking
to harass the defense. Welch =aid, "He
jumps up to interupt me before [ finish a
question. He does everything to intérrupt
mie.” Judge Smith denbed the motion and,
saying that he was not chastising either
side, suggested that the lawyers show
more restraint. Welch finally god an an-
swer from Judge White that White musi
have made the statement about Judge
Chillingworth's disappearancs having na
effect on Peel's disharment proceeding.

This bitter wrangling between
O'Connell and Welch continued until the
end of the trial, At one point the exchange
became so heated that O'Connell ealled
Welch o liar in open court. Judge Smith
sustained the objection, before Welch had
a chanee to object. The judge again ad-
vised the lawyers to calm down and show
more restraint,

A gurprise witness created a sensation

when he testified that Joseph A, Peel, Jr. |
attempted to get him to poison Floyd A, |
(Lucky) Holzapfel. Bobert E. Johnson, a |

former Palm Beach County jail inmate, |

testified that, “Joe Peel told me that if he
could get rid of Floyd, he could beat the
murder rap.” Johnson said that he was
given a Miptop cigarette pack by Peel, who
handed it to him between the bars of the
former city judge’s sall number 305 in the
Palm Beach County jail, where Peel had
sent prisoners as a magistrate. The wit-
noss said the incdent took place mbout
Movember 15, 19460, and related that Peel
aaid the pack contained a “deadly podson,®
which he wanted sprinkled on the food or
milk served Helzapfel. As a trusty, John-
son served food to the prisoners. Heserved
time for assault and battery and drunk-
enness, For a renson not made clear by
the witness, he said that Deputy SherifT
Gene Ellis had taken bim from his trusty's
duties en or about December 20, 1960,
and asked him about the poison. Johnson
gnid that he had hidden the pack in a
cement block of o wall separating the two
bathrooms and gave it ta the deputy,
wrapped in the paper napkin he said Peel
had folded around the pack before giving
it to the trusty,

Carlten L. Weleh made two unsuecess-
ful attemptsa to gain acsess to the taped
conversation of Holzapfel, Wilber, and
Yenzer which were recorded at the
Melbourne mote] just prior to Holzapfel's
arrest, Weleh's third attempt to gain ac-
cegd to the tapes proved suecesaful, when
Judge Smith reversed his two previous
rulings and granted access. The prosecu-
tion had wvigerously opposed Welch's
metion. Phil O'Connell and Eugens
Spellman maintained that granting ac-
cezs b the defense would set a bad
precedent and compromise future “bug-
ging operations.” Since the prosecution
did not present the tapes in court, there
wis no reason for the defense to hear the

tapes. Welch said that he wanted to find |

out if Holzapfel's testimony was consis-
tent with what he had said during the
Melbourne motel room comversation,
Judge [.C, Smith recessed the trinl for
four doys, g0 that the defendant and at-
torneys could listen to the tapes. The jury
inthe meantime was just *marking time,”
Drrama returned to the Peel murder
trial as a MNegro moonshiner sat in the
witness chair and calmly told of a night of
ailence, love, and murder; the final howrs
of Cirewit Judge Curtis E. Chillingworth
and his wifie Marorie, This account wis
tald by George David { Bobby) Lincoln, the
second man to finger former West Palm
Beach Municipal Judge Joseph A. Peel as
the mastermind of the double murder
niarly six years before, “He looked ot me
for a long time, then tossed the lady out of
the boat.” With that sentence, Lincaln

Mra. Chillingworth, weighted and alive,
into the ccean offthe couple’s Manalapan
home. The story of the judge geang to hia
doom was equally herrifing in its cold
bloodedness, Lincoln said that Holzapiel
pushed the judge overboard, and claimed
that he did ot know that heand Holzapfel
ware on a8 murder mizssion, Lincolnsaidin
his testimony that Helzapfiel had told him
that they were going to grab the
Chillingworths and take them to a large
boat that would be waiting for them. He
eaid that he was surprised and horrified
when Holzopfel pushed the couple over-
board. Lincoln related how the judge and
his wife expressed their love for esch
other just before they went to their doom,
Linealn's recosunting of the grossoma mur-
der ol the Chillingworths differed in some
detail from the shocking confession of
Holzapfel the previous week. Lineoln said
that Holzapfel pushed Mrs. Chillingworth
averbanrd, while Holzapfel zaid they both
threw her over. Holzapfel said that Lin-
coln kit the judge with Peel's shotgun.
Lineoln refused to admit that much in-
volvement. Under cross examination by
Carlton Welch, Lineoln said that he was
granted complete immunity for the
Chillingworth murders, and also for the
murder of Jacksanville moonshiner Lew
Harvey, Welch wondered if Lincoln ngreed
to accuse Peel as the mastermind of the
Chillingworth murders sa he could re-
oeive immunity for three murders. Lincoln
said emphatically, *I would tell the truth
and the whole truth in court, and would
take a lie detector test.” Welch objected to
the lie detector reference, but was over-
ruled by Judge Smith*

After Lincoln's testimony was complete,
he was returnad to the federal prison in
Tallahasser to complete his three year
sentencs for mmmlﬁﬂlhg’.ﬁﬂ&]‘ Lincoln’s
return to the federal prison, Carlton
Welch, in & surprise move, recalled Lin-
coln tothe witness stand. This meant that
Lincoln would have to be returned from
Tullnhnssee and that the court officials
would have to go through the necessary
red tape once again. Until this unexpected
move by Welch it was expected that the
defense would soon be able te rest its case,
but with the unexpected delay the trial
would likely last one week longer,

The next witness in the chair was a
young former cellmate of Peel in the Palm
Beach County jail. Rayno Lee (Hocky)
Davis, nineteen, looked at Peel and said
the defendant helped plot an escape from
the county jail, November 27, 1960, Davis
related that Peel told him on “five or six”
oeensions, “ifhe could pet Holzapfel out of
thi way, there wouldnt be much of a case
against him.” Rocky said Pecl showed

described how Lucky Holzapfel dumped | him a pack of cigarettes in their jail cell
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and teld him it contained deadly cyanide
potageium. The young prisoner, a
minister's son, dalng eightesn months for
breaking and entering and larceny, said
it was his impression that Peel wanted ta
poison Holzapfel through his food, as a
trusty had previously testified. Rocky said
Peel informed him, “with Helzapfel out of
the way, Lincoln could be persuaded over
to my side and there would be no case®
Rocky spid that he escaped as planned on
Movember 17, 1960, but that Peel did not
go along. He said that he gave himselfup
inJacksanville, when he learned that his
wife, an emplaye: of the Palm Beach
County sheriils office, was to be arrested
for aiding his escape. He insisted that she
had no conmsction with him leaving the
jail by walking through an unlocked out-
side door. Why the outside door was
unlocked never has been explained.™
James Yenzer, West Palm Beach born
and & 1947 graduate of Palm Beach High
School, former insurance salesman and
former crony of Peel and Holzapfel, testi-
fied that Peel teld him a plan to locate the
Chillingworth bodies and thus elaim the
210,000 reward. Yenzer zaid that Peel
gave him a detailed deseription of where
he thought the bodies could be found. He
said that Peel was to wse his share of the
reward money Lo pay Yenzer for a plot to
shoot Floyd A. (Lucky) Holzapfel. Yenzer
gaid he rented an agua lung and a sea bed
in 1858, but never made it clear whether
he actually made a search for the bodies.
James Yenzer, who has been described
as “the fresh faced personality boy of the
state's retinwe of witnesses,” told of his
fregquent meetings with Peel, begpinning
in March or April 1952, Yenzer also told of
his efforts as an undercover agent for the
Florida Sheriffs Bureau to draw from the
former judge a confession that he had
hired Holzapfel to kill Judge
Chillingworth, because the judge threat-
ened todishar him as a lawyer and expose
a lucrative moonshine racket and bolita
operation, Yenzer said that he warned
Peel in August 1959 that Holzapfel *was
a threat® to the former city judge, and
could implicate him in the Chillingworth
deaths, if e was ever so inclined. Yenzer
related that the story was part ofa scheme
hehad cooked up with special agent Henry
Lovern to erack the Chillingworth mys-
tery. Yenzer went on to say that he told
Peel in October 1958, “if he decided to hit
Floyd, then contact me " James W. Yenzer,
erstwhile associate of Peel and Holzaplel,
winsobviously trying to clean up his record.
His agreement to work as an undercover
agent had & two-fold purpose; to save
himself from criminal prosecution and
abtain o sufficient degree of respectabil-
ity so that he would be accepted in law

Witnesses James Donald Miles (left with wife) and
Rayno Les (Rocky) Davis (photo courtesy of the Sun-Sentinel).

school, Yenzer's ambition at that time
was to become a lawyer, He gave damag-
ing testimony concerning his mote] rosm
conversation with Lucky Halzapfel, in
which Holzapfel confessed his part in the
Chillimgwerth murder and implicated
Pael.

Hmlﬂ Gmy, Joe Peels former law
aszociabe now practicing in Miami, teati-
fied that while he was associated with
Peel, Holzaplel was a constant visitor to

| Peel's office. Gray said that he knew of

Holzapfel’s unsavary reputation and
added that he told Peel that the constant
presendce of Holzapfel was damaging the
reputations of both of them,™

A damaging witness against Peel was
Jares Donald Miles, a plumber from Eaw
CGallie and Peal's business partner in a
suspected crooked eight-percent invest-
ment firm in Orlands. Miles told how he
participated with Peel in an attempted

[ murder plotagainst a former pal. He said
| that Peel stated, without any emotion

that his awn leid brother John would have
ti be punned dewn tos, if he were present
when the gunman, who was actually a
state undercoveragent, struck. Miles said
that Peel admitted to him that he was
involved in the Chillingworth deaths, and
the only way out was suicide. Peel, he
snid, discussed taking poison, then de-
cided, for insurance reasons, that taking
an airplane and bombing it in the air

would be better, No such attempt was |

| made.

One by one, some twenty-one state
witnesses took the stand to say they knew

doe Peel was operating a meaonshine pro- [

tection racket vielding income up to 53,000

a month, that he boasted of the |

Chillingworth murders, that he operated
a balita racket, that he attempted on at
least two cocasions to have his sidekick
whoactually committed the Chillingworth
murders, “rubbed ont® by a “gun for hige ™™

Habby Lincaln, having been returned
from the federal prison in Tallnhpssee,
wasrecalled as mwitness. Hewent through
vigorous cross examination by Welch. The
chief defense lawyer tried without suc-
cess to have the jury told of the murder of
Lew Harvey, o twenty-one-year-old Jack-
somville moonshiner, who EIIE-E‘EJI}' Was
killed by Holzapfel when he was mis-
taken as a federal informer on Bobby,
Welch contended that if Linceln could
admit to the Chillingworth deaths, which
he had, and was involved in the Harvey
slaying, he would have no qualms about
"swearing the life of Joo Peel into the
electric chair.” At one time during ques-
tioning, Lincoln was asked about the last
time he talked to Peal. Lincoln's reply:
"He called me and asked how am [ feel-
ing? I said, "How do you think [ am feeling?
1 am on my way to jaill® © That response
brought some laughter from the overflow
crawd in the eourt roam.

The exchanges between Phil O'Connell
and Carlten Weleh continued to be bitter
throwghout thetrial. Durng oneexchange,
Welch said Peel and Holzapfel were count-
ing the money received from their bolita
aperations “in the Harvey building, under
the nose of the state attorney.” 0'Connell
roge and made a thundercus objection,
adding, "Ifthat wera true, neither of them
would be able to be in court now,” Welch
immediately called for & mistrial, Onoe
again the jurors took the accustomed
march back to the jury room, while the
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Inwyersengaged inanother legal wrangle.
Welch claimed that O'Connell was threat-
ening people with bodily harm, and
therefore the trial could not continue in
such an atmosphere, Judge Smith denied
the motion, and once again the jurors
were ealled back to the jury box, ™

The defense side of the case opened in
a very shaky and unusual manner, The
first witness angrily stated that he “was
on Mr, Peel's death list.” The charge was
madie by Robert E. Hawkey, a Weat Palm
Beach radio commentator, who added,
“Far three years [ lived within arm length
of a pun while this man (pointing to Joe
Peel at the defense table) lived in West
Palm Beach. [ never got in my car without
lifting the hood first and checking the
wipers,” Hawkey's testimony stunned the
spectators jamming the small courtroom.
Welch opened the defense portion of the
sensational murder trinl by calling
Hawkey to the stand and asking him if it
were not true the radio commentator told
Inst November that he would be a hostile
witness if subpoenaed. "Will you say the
reasons for my being hostile, Mr. Welceh?™
the witness demanded, O'Connell sug-
peated the witness be permitted to give
the reasons for his attitude, and Hawkey
said he thought Welch would be hostile
ton if he were on Peel’s death list. Welch
demanded to know who told Hawkey that
he was onsucha list, and the witness said
he was so informed by Henry Lovern, a
special agent for the Florida Sheriffs
Bureau. The jury was not in the room
during the angry exchanges between
Welch and Hawkey, and between the de-
fense attorney and O'Connell, Welch
excused Hawkey when it became evident
that he was truly a hostile witness, and
thi court denied a defense motion to have
him sworn as a court witness. Hawkey
virtually stomped firom the witness chair
and walked past Peel. He did not look at
the seated defendant as he stepped past
the court rpiling, his teeth clenched in
undigguised anger. Peel did not look at
him gither, Why Welch called Hawkey as
a witness was not explained.*

Carlton L, Welch called often-convicted
jewel thief, Ted Rinehart to destroy the
eredibility of P.0, (Jim) Wilber, the West

Palm Beach bail bondsman and former |

cop, who had been one of the prosecation's
star witnesses, Rinchart was spirited to
Fort Pierce the night be fore from the state
prizon at Raiford and ledged in the city
jail, instead of the county lockup, an ap-
parent pecurity measure against any
escape attempt. Defense counsel Welch
subpoenaed Rinehart to testify about his
knowledge of a gun incident involving
PO Jim) Wilber, The defenss alm was to
destroy Wilber's credibility as a witness,

Wilber had given damaging testimony for |
the prosecution, stating that Pecl had |

admitied to him that he was responsible
for the calloused murders of Circuit Judge
and Mrs. Curtiz E. Chillingwarth, Wilker
was with hired pun Floyd A. (Lucky)
Huolzapfel most of the time during the fowr
day drinking spree in Melbourne during
which Lucky confessed to actually com-
mitting the murders. In his earlier
testimony, Wilber admitted that he had
g::'vn:n Rinchart a false affidavit that ke
had placed a revolver in the jewel thiel's
luggage without Rinehart's knowledpge.

The affidavit was used to free Rinehart of |

federal charges of transporting o firearm
across a state line. The prosecution, how-
ever, showed that Wilber was an
undercover agent for the F.B.1. and that
hi was keeping an eye on his “pal” for the
federal agency.

Rinehart created a sensation when he
claimed that Peel was framed as the mas-
termind of the Chillingworth murders.
Rinehart made the electrilyving disclosure
that he was offered a sinister swap of a
picture of himself in the nuwde, which
would be kept from the F.B.L, in return
for helping frame Peel. Rinehart nover
ot mround to explaining from the witness
stand how he would be invelved, and
what the frame.up would be. Why the
F.B.l. would be interssted in the nude
photos was never explained. Rinehart
made his statement in the absence of the
jury, which was out of the courtroom be-
cause Rinehart was being interrogated
under a “proffer,” & court procedure to

)

Ted Rinehart
iphoto courtesy of Sur-Sentinel),

determine out of earshot of 2 jury what
the witness intends to say and its rel-
cvance ta the case, Rinehart's testimony
was barred from the jury when Judge
Smith sustained a prosecution chjection
to Weleh's proffer on grounds the testi-
mony was irrelevant and immaterial, Bub
the judge explained that while he could
not accept the proffer inits entirety, Welch
could ask pertinent questions that would
drow from Rinehart remarks about the
“frampe."”

The jury was summoned back to the
Jury bax, and Welch started guestioning
Rinehart. The first question, “Were you
ever photographed by Wilber in an em-
hirrassing situation in a Palmetto Street
apartment at West Palm Beach™ °1 re-
member that,” Rinehart stated. "It was
about March or April 1959.” Welch asked,
“After this photo was taken, [ don't mean
the exact circumstances, but when this
photo wis taken . . .~ He was cut off by a
prosecution aobjection which was sus-
tained. But Welch continued to ask the
question anvway, “After this photo was
taken, did Mr. P.O. (Jim} Wilber make
any threat or statement toyou”™ Rinehart
answered, "He said if 1 would help him
fraome Joe Peel, he would not turn this
photagraph over to the F.B.L" Rinehart
talked batween arguments by the pros.
ecution and defense for nearly an hour in
the jurys absence, He said that he and
Wilber became pals mfter the bondsman
obtained his release from jail in Palm
Beach County on February 25, 1958, and
claimed Wilber wanted him to form a
burglar team with Holzapfel. Rinehart
said, “There wasasafe in Miami withalot
of gold smuggled into this country. He
wanted us to take it right away because a
burglar alarm was being installed. And
he had o couple of houses in Palm Beach
torob and then some in Miami. " Rinehart
siid Wilber telephoned Holzapfiel and then
put him on the line to apeak to the hocd-
lum, Rinehart sald, “1 took the phone and
said & few words. There's not much vou
ciin sy oo man [ never met.”

Rinehart's testimany eould have been
the first major break for the defense effort
ta save Peel from the electric chair, if
presented to the jury in e entirety, It
might have destroyed Wilber's credibility
s 4 witness because of the fact that the
bendsman had previously lied under oath
and because of Rinehart’s description of
Wilber as a common crock. But, on the
other hand, Hinechart faced credibilicy
problems of his own. He was often ar-
restid and often eonvicted. In fact,
Rinchart was arrested in Fort Lawder-
dale in December 1958, while he was on
the F.B.1.'s "ten most wanted list.” He was
turned over to Collier County authorities,
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tried for a $16,000 jewel theft in Maples,
and sent to prison. No doubt, Rinehart
wauld face vigorous cross examination
fraem Phil O'Coannel]®

The squabble over the proffer became
bitter and at times extremely hested.
Welch protested the court's ruling against
the proffer as a whele, and questioned
whether the court was interested in the
innoeenes of the defendant and his being
framed. (FConnell roared, “Leave the court
cuk of this, You've framed everybady else,
leave the court out of this thing.” Judge
Smith then explained in a sharp tone that
Welch could question Rinehart, for the
impeachment of Wilber, through normal
questioning. A few minutes later, the de-
fense bitterly complained that the
prosecution had threatened defense wit-
nesses “who have the eourage Lo come
before this court and stand up before the
prosecution’s threats.” Judge Smith was
not going toallew that incriminating blast
goby without a correction, Hesaid, "Noth-
ing has cccurred in the court to impede
even in the slightest degree the lawiiul
and tender treatment of witnesses during
the trial.” Welch declined to question
Rinehart further after the judge’s ruling,

Mrs, Imogene Peel, the attractive wife
af the defendant, took the stand in behalf
of her embattled husband. She stated
that the shotgun described in Helzapfel's
testimony as belonging to Peel, which was
broken when it was used to hit Judge
Chillingworth on the head, was definitely
not her hushand's gun. Mrs, Peel said
that her husband had only one shotgun
and it was never taken from the house
during the episade in question. She smid
that it was still in the possession of the
family. Welch produced a shotgun which
Mrz. Peel identified as belonging to her
husband.

Carlton L. Welch then called a “sur-
prise” witness: John Tedesco, a Miami
Beach bartender and muscle man. Welch's
purpose was Lo prove that someone other
than Peel may have masterminded the
Chillingworth murder. Welch was trying
Lo “pin it” on the late Samuel (Barney)
Barnett, deseribed by the Dade County
law officers az a “labor goon,” Barnett,
who had "conveniently” died in 1960, was
deseribed by the defense asa Dade County
crime boss. In describing him this way,
thedefense seems to have elevated Barnett
to a far higher position than seems war-
ranted. Welch told the court that Tedescn
approached him in his Jacksonelle offies
under “strange circumstances” and told
him that he overheard Holzapfel plot the
murder with his boss, Bamuel (Barney)
Barnett. But when Tedeseo took the stand
in a preliminary examination to deter.
mine if his information was relevant to

thi Peel trial, he said be overheard *Lucky™
conferring with Barnett at the end of the

| bar at the Harem Club at Miami Beach in

April or May 1965, The prosecution proved
equal te the sitwation. A quick check was

| made on Tedesco's background, and the

discovery was made that Tedesco started

work at the Harem Club eight months |

after the alleged Barnett-Holzapfel con-
versation took place. O'Connell asked
Tedesco if he did not actually start work
ot the Harem Club February 3, 1956,
someeight manths after the Chillingworth
disappearance, The tough-talking witness
said that ke could not remembser the exact
date, and stated, "1 am not on trial,” add-
ing “1 was in and out of the (Harem) bar,
and when [ wasn't doing anything [ was
always at the bar.” Assistant prosecutor
Eugene Spellman made a motion to reject
Tedesco's testimony because the latter
could not remembor vital dates, The mo-
ticn was upheld by Judge Smith, When
the broken-nosed valuntary witness left
the courthouse with a muscular pal, he

| was trailed by a Florida Highway Patrol

officer.=

Joseph A Peal, Jr., former West Palm
Beach Municipal Judge, finally took the
stand in his own defense. Because of the
constitutional prohibition against selfin-
crimination, a defendant in & criminal

cise i not required to testify. However, if |
the defendant elects to testify under oath, |

he s subject to cross examination by the
prosecutar, In his testimony Peel admit-

ted to being involved in varicus activities. |

He even admitted o plotting Holzapfel's
murder. But Peel emphatically denied
having anything at all to do with the
Chillingworth case. When he finished his
testimony, Peel had to face the blistering
erogs examination from the determined
Phil O'Connell. During the cross exami-
nation, Peel emphatically denied that he
had sought immunity for the
Chillingwarth case. He did admit that he
had "speculnted” with Yenzer at a bowl-
kng alleyin the middle of June 1960, about
the Chillingwarth case. “We speculated
about chaing and burlap bags being used.
I was wrong. | had speculated about that
with Yenzer at Eau Gallier.” The defon-
dant admitted that he was indirectly
assoeiated with Holzapfel in the Orlando
firm, but he denied any partnership with
him.

At no time was Peel asked point blank
if he masterminded the murders of Cir-
cuit Judge and Mea. C.E. Chillingwarth

| mearly six years before, but he was asked

if e did mot plot to have Lucky Holzapfil
gunmned down, because Lucky had threat-

| ened to name him as the instigator of the

killings. Again Peel made a flat denial. He
emphatically denied another charge by

Mrs. Imogens Peal
{photo courtesy of Sun-Senlinel).

O'Connel]l that he was invalved in the
gang-style murder of Lew Gene Harvey,
the twentv-one-year-old Jacksonville
meonshiner, in 1958, Peel insisted the
onily renson he plotted Holzapfel's demise
with a Florida Sheriffs Bureau under-
cover agent was that he feared Lucky
would harm his daughter, Victoria, out of
revenge, ('Connel]l continwed his fiery
cross cxamination, hammering continw-
cusly at Peel about his associntions with
shady characters, his suspected business
cperations, and his reported rackets in-
terests while he was a city judge in West
Palm Beach. Then at 1125 A M., *like a
fieres tropical storm,” the interrogation
ended as abruptly as it had begun.
Connell left Peel hanging with a denial
that he ever sought immunity in return
for testimoeny in the Chillingworth deaths,
Then he said, *I have no further ques-
tions,” and Peel's ordeal ended. O'Connel]
had previously indicated that he would
tear at Peel’s cloims of innocence and
being the victim of o deadly frame-up.
Defense attorney Welch said the abrupt
ending caught him without nny witnesses
waiting to take the stand because he had
excused those subpoenacd for Saturday
until Monday. The Saturday session of
the court was then recessed until Mon-
d-ﬂ._'f’.“

When the trial resused, Carlton L.
Welch called Frank Maynard, Lake Park
attorney and friend of Peel, to take the
stand. Whatever good Maynard was able
to do for Peel during direct examination
by Weleh spon vanizghed under the blast of
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a Nerce cross examination by the flery
State Attorney Phillip D, O"Connell. The
defense witness admitted that Joseph A,
Peel told him that “anybody who knows
about the Chillingworth cose don live
lomg.” Maynard also admitted, under the
hammering cross examination by
O'"Connell, that he was “suspicious of Jose
Peel” when Circuit Judge and Mrs.
Chillingweorth disappeared on June 15,
15855, Maynard was called to the stand by
Welch to testify that he never heard Peel

say that he had gotten rid of Chillingworth |

and that O'Conmnell would be mext. But
once Weleh had finighed his direct exami-
nation, Maynard had toface theblistering
brondside of questions from the state at-
tormey. A tall, tottering man, Maynard
sheak almost uncontrollably in the wit-
mess chair as the prosecutor hammered ot
him, attempting to draw an admission
that Maynard was a lawyrer with a balita-
selling clientele, and had represented that
clement before Joo Peel, then a city judge
in West Palm Beach. His hands trembling
fiercely, Maynard glared at 0"Connell and
said that he had defended just one bolita
suspect, whi was convicted. He denied
that George { Bobby ) Lincoln had sent him
the client. O'"Connell vigorously and per-
sistantly questicned Maynard if he had
not asked Peel about the Chillingworth
cage when the two were driving to Miami,
demanding, “Didn’t Joe Peol say to you,
‘Anybody who talks about the
Chillingworth ease don't live long?® *
Maynard said that he had velunteared
the information to O'Connell on Novem.-
ber 14, 1960, at a hearing in West Palm
Beach which charged the former judge
with masterminding the Chillingworth
murder.*

The Peal trinl was front-page mews
throughout thestate, The press described
the Peel operation as the "Murder Unlim-
ited Gang.” Such designation was followed
by a list of murders completed, murders
attempted, and murders planned, The
contents of the list were as follows:

Murders completed:

1. Judge Curtis E. Chillingwarth, 18955
2. Mrs. Marjorie Chillingwoerth, 1955
3. Lew Gene Harvey, 1958

Murders twice attempted and twice
batched:
1. Harcld Gray

Murders planned:
1. State Attorney Phillip D, O'Connell
2. Floyd A (Lucky) Holzapdiel

A proapect:

1. James A, Yenzer

Yenzer had said that he was hired to
kill Holzapfel, but tipped him off instead.
Holzapfel testified that Yenzer feared that
he was on the execution Het if he gunned
down his ald chum.* As Florida's most
sensational murder trial approached its
conclusion, Joseph A. Peel had made three
possibly incriminating admissions, which
were as follows:

1. He had plotted with Yenzer and
Miles to have Lucky Holzapfel slain.

2. He admitted that he had a revolver
and blackjauck owned by Lucky thrown
intoa eanal, because he thought that they
were used in the gangland-type slaying of
Lew Gena Harvey, the young Jackson-
wille moonshiner mistakenly shot in 1958
as a federal informer.

3. He had scouted the prospects of
ohtaining immunity as an accessory after
the fact in the Harvey murder, although
he emphatically denied seeking immu-
nity in the Chillingwarth case.

As the trial wound down, Florida
Sherifl’s Bureau investigators testified.
Special agent Henry Lovern, credited with
eracking the Chillingwerth case by trac-
ing the 1958 gangland slaying of Lew
Gene Harvey to Holzaphel, told the court
that he was in an adjoining room when
¥Connell and Peel had their conversa-
tion, He heard Peal ask the state attorney
for immunity in the Chillingworth case,
and he also heard O'Connell’s flat refusal
of the request, Hess Anderson, Deputy
Dvirector of the Florida Sheriff's Bureau,
testificd that Peel came voluntarily to
Keom 1290fthe Holiday Innin Melbourne,

which the FSB was using as a listening
post for Room 127, and requested in writ-
ing that he be taken to West Palm Beach
o canfer with O"'Connell, with whom he
had onee shared a law office. “Mr. Peel
discussed several matbers, including the
Chillingworth case, and in the
Chillingworth cases he requested immu-
pity in return for his testimony. Mr.
O'Connell flatly refused ™*

“Jukin George™ Fisher, a prisoner at
Raiford who was serving a four year berm
for balita operations, pointed to Peel's
general direction when he was asked by
the prosecution to point out the defen-
dant. Fizher testified that Peel called him
to his office sometime in 1955 and offered
him protection for hies bolita business for
filty dollars a week. He suggested “Jukin
Gearge” becamea “a big operator™ and buy
out his {Peel's) own bolita operation,”

Other prosecution rebuttal witnesses
testified about Peel's close relationships
with Holzapfel, Other prosecution wit-
nesses testified to the close association of
Pesl with Holzapfial in West Palm Beach.

As Florida's mest sensational murder
trial was nearing its final conelusion, de-
fense attorney Carltan Welch made two
more motions that sent the jurors travel-
ling back to the jury room. One motion
called for a miatrial on the grounds thit
thi court was prejudiced against the de-
fendant. The other motion called for a
directed verdict of not guilty on grounds
that the state had utterly failed to prove
its case. Judge Smith denied both mo-

tions. @
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- Peel Guilty Of Murder;
Escapes Electric Chair

For his finsl summation before the
Jury, Btate Attorney Phillip D, O'Conmell
had an overwhelming amount of mvidence
on his side. He had the direct testimony of
Larcky Holzapfel and Bobby Linsaln, the
two culprits who actually committed the
murders. He had the testimony of several
people who had repeated in court inerimi-
nating statements Poel made after the
miurders. Also OFConnell had direct testi-
mony from two reliable witnesses that
Peel, in spite af hiz denials, did seek
immunity in the Chillingworth case in
exchange for his teatimony_ O'Connell alsa
extablished, without any chance of geri-
ocus doubt, a clear motive for Peel to plot
the murder of Judge Chillingworth, and
he clearly proved a close working rela-
ticnship between Peel, Holzapfel, and
Lincoln. In his summation to the jury,
'Connell said the casze was about two
judges. Judge Chillingworth was an ex-
ample of the ideal judge, a dedicated public
servant who was sterm but fair,
Chillingwaorth was opposed to corruption
in any form and was a defindte threat to
the evil-doers, On the other hand, Joseph
Peel was an example of evervthing that a
judge should not be. Pecl was a judge who
wais totally eorrapt, the bype who used his
judicial position as a way towards power,
wealth, and plunder. In the end, Peel saw
his racketeering domain unraveling and
became certain that Judge Chillingworth
was suspicious of his conduct. So Pesl
masterminded the terrible crime, having
two willing agents, Flowd A, Holzapfel
and Bobby Lincoln, commit the ghostly
killing. Ins his sumeration, 'Connell called
on the jury for a verdict of murder in the

first degree with no recommendation for |

mercy. Phillip D. 0"Connell left no doubt
that he was absolutely convinced of Peal’s
Euile®

Dafense attorney Carlton L. Weleh had
ndifficult task. Theoverwhelming amount
of evidence was against his client, nnd he
decided not (o have Peel take part in the
summation. Welch continued with the
defense strategy of showing that people
gther than Peel had both motive and
means to mastermind the Chillingworth
murders, The defense was at a disadvan-
tage in that it had conceded to much
wrongidoing an Paels part. But on the
other hand, Welch probably did not have
much cholee in the matter, sinee the evi-
dence that the defendant had been a
rocketeering judge was so overwhelming.
B0, while conceding many of Peel's shart-
comings, the defense emphatically denbed
that the defendant had anything to do
with the Chillingworth murders, Instead

| the defense tried to focus attention on a
| shadowy character, Dade County under-
| world figure Samuel (Barney) Barnett,
| wha by now was safely in his grave and

coald not be held accountable,
Carlton Welch stressed that anyone

who would confess to committing such |

brutal murders (Holzaplel and Lincoln)
would certainly be willing to lie under
oath and implicate Joe Peel in order to
please the prosecution and thus escape
the electrie chair. The defense thus
claimed the whaole prosecution case was a
fraeme.™

The summations being completed,
Judge DLC. Smith gave his inatructions to

| the jury. When that task was completed,

the jurors retired to the jury room to begin
deliberations. The jury was directed to
choose one of the three verdicts possible:
guilty as charged with no recommenda-
tion for mersy, which wsually meant the
electric chair for the defendant; guilty,
but with o recommendation for mercy,
which vsually meant life imprisonment
far the defendant: or not guilty.

The jury returned its verdict on Thues-
day, March 30, 1961, after five and cne-half
hours of deliberations. The jury found
Joseph AL Peel, Jr., the former West Palm
Beach Municipal Judge, guilty as charged,
but with & recommendation for mency.
The vote on the mercy recommendation
wis six to six. Thus Joo Peel escaped the

| electric chair by a margin of ane vole,

State Attorney Phillip D, 0'Connell, who
had demanded the death penalty, com-
mented that he had “lived with the case
for almost gix vears,” and added, “T'm
always happy whenajury of citizens finds
a killer guilty of murder.” Defense attor-
ney Carlten L. Weleh, who had bitterly
conteated every bit of legal ground with
0"Connell, was philossphical about the
verdict. Welch said that he considered the
vardict & compromise; “The state wantad
the chair, and we wanbed exoneration, We
got the between.” After the verdict wis
announced, defense attorney Carlton L.
Welch, who had taken the case ns o fivar
to Ponl for m favor received during their
colbege days, and who had taken the case
on a pro bono basis, announced that he
wiis withdrawing from thecase, and wauld
nat appeal the verdict. Welch explained
that he could not afferd the expense. He
added that he had received abowt $2,000
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from the Peel family, but his expenses so
for had been much more then that. Any
appeal, or any future legal work concern-
ing Peel would have to be handled by
somecns else.

After the trial was over and the verdict
rendered, 8 strange cpisode tock place
which briefly threatened to“short circuit”
the whole proceedings. Mrs. Alice Griggs
of Fort Pierce, a repeat divorcee, aid that
she had seen Judge C.E. Chillingworth
alivein Fort Pierce three months after his
disappearance, She said that she knew
dudge Chillingworth because he had
handled ane of her divorees and an adop-
tion case many years before. She was
called before Judpe Smith, but she gave a
faulty description of the late jurist. Judge
White testified that he had handled one of
her cases and that Judge Chillingworth
was in the navy in 1944 when the other
taok place. Judge Smith ruled that the
woman wis mistaken, and so the court
proceadings were not dermiled, On Apnil
26, 1961, Judge D.C. Smith sentenced
former West Palm Beach Municipal Court
Judge Joseph A, Peel to life imprison-
ment in the state penitentiary !

Inthe meantime, the lang-awaited sen-
tencing of Floyd A.{Lucky) Holzaplel took
place. State Attorney Phillip I O'Connell
urged life imprisonment in view of
Holzapfel's cooperation in the Peel case.
However, Circuit Judge Russell Morrow
sentenced Holzapfel to death in the elec-
tric chair. Later however, Judge Morrow
urged the sentence be commuted to life
imprisonment, which was done.

Though convicted of first degres mur-
der and sentenced to life imprisonment,
Joe Peel's legal troubles were not over. He
gtill faced trial in Titusville for plotting
the attempted murder of Holzapfel, trial
in Fort Pierce for the murder of Mrs,
Marjorie Chillingworth, as well as a fed-
eral trinl for stock fraud. Peel’s troubles
were compounded when he was left with-
oul & lawyer, with Carlton Welch's
departure from the scene, Henry Fogle of
81, Petersburg agreed torepresent Peel in
the fortheoming trials.

In the Titusville trial for platting the
murder of Holzapfel, Peel won acquitial
through a technicality. Fogle raised the
legal point that the one whowas supposed
to commit the murder was a state agent.
James Yenzer, who Peel had hired to kill
Holzapfel, was in spite of his checkered
past ot that time serving as an under-
cover agent for the Florida Sheriffs
Bureau. So Peel "beat the rap® in that
cnse,M

Peel was back in Fort Pierce for trial
concerning the murder of Mrs,
Chillingworth, but the court was unable
to seat 8 jury in that city, so the trial was

moved to Bartow, Onee again the court
experienced diffieulty seating a jury. Then
Peel suddenly changed his plea to nolo
contendere and received a second life sen-

| tence, both to run concurrently. On April

3, 1962, Peel was convicted in faderal
court in Orlands on nine of eleven counts
for stock fraud and was sentenced to a
total of eighteen years in prisan. The
federal sentence would begin just as soon
a8 Peel's state sentence ended. On May
22, 1961, the Second District Court of
Appeals upheld Peel's murder convictions
and senbencs.

Eventually Mrs. Imogene Peel, who
had steod by her embattled husband dur-
ing the trial, diverced him, The children
changed their names, In prison Peel occu-
pied his time teaching classes conductied
for the priscners, Joseph A Peel, who had
such difficulty abtaining the services of a
lawyer for his original trial, now was able
to hwee several atterneys working in his
behalf, including Hans Tenzer, the former
mayor of Jacksonville. Over the all-out
cppesition af Fhil ('Connell, Judge Jo-
seph White, West Palm Beach attorney
Charles Chillingworth (a nephew of the
late jurist), and cthers, the Florida Parole
Board decided to ignore public opinion
and announced that Joseph A, Peel, Jr,
would be released on parole December 23,
1979, Among the conditions for Peel's
release was that he could not fravel in
Florida south of Gainesville,™

Just after Peel's release, the federal
putharitics arrested him and he had to
begin serving his eighbesn year senbence
for stock frawd, While in federal prison,
Peel becameeritically ill with cancer, and
because he was dying, was released June
24, 1982, over the bitter objections of Phil
O'Connell, among others. Just befare hia
release, Peel married the nlece of his
former wile, and they moved to Jackaon-
ville. Mear the end of his life, Joseph A,
Peel, Jr. made a partial confession. He
said that he knew at the time that the
Chillingwoerth murder was planned and
zaid that perhaps hecould have prevented
it, bt Peel atil]l put the blame on the late
shadowy Dade County underworld figure
Samuel (Barney) Barnett, To the end of
his lifie Jogr Peel refused to admit that he
weis the mastermind of that ghastly crime,

his release from prisan.™
During the decade of the 19708, there
wits i public relations effort to free Floyd
A, (Laucky) Helzapfel, A lengthy newspa-
| per article had for its title *Is Holzapfel
Bad?™ Some prison peychintriststhought
| that Holzapfel could be rehabilitated and
| could make a contribution to society.

It caam be snid thatJoseph A. Peel, Jr. lived |
up Lo ks end of the bprgui:n; ha died 10
Jacksonville July 3, 1982, nine diuys aflter |

Holzapfel even talked about working ina
lawyer's office after his release. But those
efferts failed. At the present time, Floyd
A. (Lucky) Holzapfel is still in prison and
is not eligible for consideration for release
until the year 200855

George D. (Bobby) Lincoln, the third
member of the terrible trio thst commit-
ted Florida's crime of the century, was
released from federal prison November 9,
1862, Lincoln's wife, Henrietta, divorced
him just before his release and was
awarded custody of the children. Since
his relense Lincoln has apparently “gone
straight.” He has moved out of Palm Beach
County, abandoned the rackets, and at
last reports was preaching to the Black
Muslims in Chicago.™

Phillip D O'Connell, the longtime state
attorney for the Fifteenth Judicial Cir-
cuit, stepped down from his pesition in
1965 after twenty-six years in office. He
went into the private practice of law with
the firm O'Connell, Cooper, Parish and
McBane. He remained a leading and re-
spocted citizen of West Palm Beach until
his death, September 20, 1987, eleven
days short of his eightieth birthday.

Florida’s erime of the century also
marked the end of our innocence. South
Florida was a relatively peaceful area in
1955 % The Chillingworth murders were
our first noteworthy experience with the
porthern urban gangster world of cone
tract killings and hit men. The case also
involved the story of two judges, Curtiz E.
Chillingworth, the ideal judicial states-
man, and Joseph A. Peel, Jr., the
racketeering judge. The case can also be
called Florida's greatest judicial scandal.
Even though the municipal judge was on
the lowest rung of Florida's judicial hier-
archy, the idea that one sitting judge
would isswe a murder contract an the life
of another sitting judge was mind-bog-
gling. Even today the Chillingworth
murder case seems slranger than fietion,
miere like o scenario for a television drama
than a real event that teok place in the
south Florida of 1955,
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1. The wather relied on the approprinbe issoes of the
Fort Laudercale Maws, The Miomi Herold, The
FPalm Beack Posr, -dﬂnhhtﬂuth Tizwes for

thom of Judge Cartis E. ﬂllﬁ:ﬂmﬁ.ﬂﬂlﬂlﬂr
is indebted to his fathar, Port Lauderdale atior-
mey Huogh Lester (1884 - 19671, who koew
Chillingwarth well. For an opinson of Judge Jo-
pephd Pecl, Jr., ke nuthor is imdebbed o Beoward
Cirsuit Judgn (Aot ) Lamar Warren, who presided
at Peel's first disharment bearing in 1565 The
author depended on the archives of the Broward
Histortcal Commission and is alsa in-

debted to Dr. Wan Denndson, [Nrector of ik
Historical Sccisty of Palm Banch County,for her
pasistance in securing =smaterisl om the
Chillingwerth msn located in the society's ar
chives. Some of the material i based on ihe
walbor's personal keswledpn

2. For a figll mocoumt of the bister Tedder-Giblin
eloctin, see Dongld G. Lester, "Brewand Politics
1928-1038; Palitical Irdluence in Depression Era
Broward,® Broward Lagocy 13 (Sammer-Fall
195005, g 438

3. The Broward Coanty el roust court was agin sepa-
rated from the Palm Besch County circait ooartin
1983, For the history of the Browsrd County
courts, see Jassts H. Gilbert, Jr, “History of the
Judicial System of Breward County,” Mew River
Newra, Jasuary 31, 1967, pp. 16

4. In 1845 the positbons of cireuit judge, stabe aldor.
Esty, addd diipirrvases ol ragabration becama elective

&It b probably difficult for people today to approci-
ate the tremendows respect snd admiration
enjowed by Judge Chillingworth, The opinions
dapressid by the suthor are in line with ihe
prevadling opinions tewasd this dedicabed juriss.
Fer hiographical ghetches see Fenck and Bar of
Florida 1835 (Tallakasses, 1835, p. 162

& For & bicgraphical shetch of Joseph A. Peel, Jr.,
;_lrEmlr Hutter, The Chillingaorth Case,pp. 15

7, Peels racketosning activities were publicly oo
vealod durieg his trial. Pl admitted that lawyers
mdvised him o get & “betior cass of ellent™

&, Some of this maierial is hased on & marascript
propared for Palm Beach Coanty Cireult Jadge
Emaritus James Knott. Cegy is in tha archives of
the Pal= Beack County Historical Scciety.

%, Flutter, The Chilingwosth Cass, p. 15,

101 In 185D ike Helauver Sennte Investigating Coom.
mikten hald hearings throsghout the coanty 1o
detorming the Enk befween public offlcials and
organiced crime. Beowand County's bmglime and
ligendary eherilf, Walter B Clark, made sesss
damaging ndeissions bafore that commitise. As o
iy |8 ha s suspended from offies by Coversar
Fuller Warren. Clark also bad to face trinl in the
Broward Criminal Couwrt ard was soguitted. How-
gvar, the Flonda Senats upheld his suspension
the fellewing spring. By this time Clark was
critically ill ard died & few days afer tha senate’s
Firpietion of Bas reinstatemens.

11, Palfm Beach Posd: Tisves, March 12, 108).

12 Knedt sienserpl,

13, Fort Louderdale Mews, Juns 15, 15955, Tald 1o ik
nuthor by kis father, Fort Lasderdalo attommey
Hugh Lester. The year 1923 is incerrect.
Chillingworth and Tedder cach biesms csusty
Judge in 1921,

4. Tha animosity between Tedder and Giblis origi-
mated with the bitter Tedder-Giblin election for
cirepit padpe in 1928 For o full accsust of that
bartile, e Lester, “Broward Politics 190258 1508,
After his defeat, Giblin meeond o Dade County,
whese ha evmimtually became a circuit judge.

L5, Judge Parks presided st the 1927 murder trial of
WA Hichs in Fort Landerdale. Fora full aceount

of the Hicks trial, e Donald G, Lester, "Just oo of
the Peace WA, Hicks,” Froward Legacy, 15 (win-
ver-spring 1992), pp. H14.

18. Fort Lasderdale Nesrs, Jusae 18, 1HE5,

17. Letter from Broward Clrosit Judge (Bet.) Lamar
Warres o Roedney Dillen, November 19, 1992,

18. Knedt manmscript.

19, Miami Herald, July 2, 1834, I The Hnight-
Chasiain fight received natsonal agtengion. Joe
Knight of Cair, Geongia, hed fought a filteen
round draw with Maxie Rosenbloom, the warld's
light hemvyweight champien, s & dhampisnship
bt Clrduuﬂhl.l-l.lml:ﬂ:lllln..'fuu Faadd wion n

b o bath widim, recwived (e assignsent. Knight
krickod ot Chastain in the sixth rosnd.

210, Ellwosd . Manee, The Easd Cocsr of Florida, 3
mhiﬂdm Beach, 18521, vol. 3, p. 1296,
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22 Weleh used ithe flme. h.nnnﬂd dq:!uu MALGTEEY
edrategy of puiting semeosns other than the deferr
dant e trial. Welehosnstantly rsked th ;
that Judge Challingworth was the victim of o
mugrder plat masterminded by Dade County us-
derworld Fgares.

43 In his cross exassinalien, Welch tried 1o prove
that Hast did mst know anything abowt bolits
3. Throagheut the trial Welch continusd 1o saks
eifections, He objecied fo the intmoduction of
Holrapfel's confesslom as evidence, 1o 0'Cansail’s
prijudicing 5 jury agninst the defendansi, to
Cormell’s constant shjestisna, to OConnells
comEtanl Eberruptions, and even 1o 0'Connell’s
loud weice. Welch mads mnstenl metioes LF &
mistral on varsous points of law. The Jury waa
irstnacted to Fetine to the jury rom whils Jedge
Bmmith |sstened to the legal wrangling. All metions

for o mistres] were donind.

A5, Welch made a bt qut of the grant of immunity
given 1o Lineoln, He claimed that Lincoln wea
willing to commit perjury inorder to save himsedl
Fram tho ebeetrie chase.

36, How Peol got held of the poison was mever exs
plaimed. [t was cortainly a strangs situaties with
Blra, Davis working as an employes of the sherilFs
offlee witibe ber hushard was sorving Lirss itk
ciunity jail, Thi eeteide door being beft unlodked
dnur-l:mtm-lk well for the soeurity of the cousty
i

ST, Harold Geay has dome well since Bw mmeved 1o
Mawini, Evesrlally he becama associabed with tha
prestigious law firm of Goodwin, Ryaka=p,
‘Welcher, Carrier, ard Danolf. Kenmeth Byskamp
s mwow srving with distinetion s a Sediral fodge
im Miinmi. The Martindole Hubbal Los Enrectory,
vel, 2, p. 3851,

A8, Fort Lowderdnle News, Blanch 31, 1961

8. Miami Ferald, March 11, 1981,

#0. Bamy of the delonse witnosses fuibed @ help Pesls.
casg, For oneg thisg. most of thes wilted under
OCormells fleree cross examination.

41, Bath sidos usisd unsavory characiors ns. witnesses,

The used, among others, Holzaaplal,
Lincoln, Wilber, Miles, asd Yemzer, The defense
umed Binehart, among others. This should mat b
parprisicg sine andisirable charactiss geesenlly
nre the omes who know the most about serious
ErRfH

42 This was amether atdempt of Welch to put ks
lama fer tha Chillisgwerth murders on someone
piber than Poel It mmust bo resembened (Bat
Wideh was holding a weak hand and wes doing the
bewt $hat he could wnder the circumstanoe,

&2 Fort Lasderdale Mews, March 26, 1961

. Frank Maynard was another defonss witnees whs
failed o ba off much help 1o Jos Peal.

&5 Fort Lowdlerdale Mews, March 13, 1961

B [Ned, March 38, §041.

AT Thid.

5. Weldch condimued his tenacious legal wrangling o
thi end of the trisl. He was simply overwhelmed
by thar vast amoant of evidence that accurm lated
ngRinst his elsent.

. OComnedl was af his oratorical and drassaic st
im his cleaing summation. He said, *The gheas of
Judge Chillingworth will pot pestuntil hiskiller is
shoveling coal ingo the fires of hell and damna-
Ehon.”

5. Once ngain Welch streased the loathsome charas-
e of ot Holeaplel ard Linsln and e mphasized
that they made a deal 1o save themselves

51, Fort Laaderfale Daily News, April 26, 1561, The
100,000 reward offered in the case was divided
as [ollows: dames Yenoer, B55000; PO, fFim)
Wilber, 537 5800; J. Doeald Miles, $7 500,

52 Palm Beach Times, Decomber 18, 1979,

53 Palm Beach Times, June 24, 1982 Palm Beach
Poat, July 4, 1BRZ.

8. Palm Beach Posd-Tisses, Muy &, 1974

B5 Theinformation the sutbse seeefved on Holea plel's
current status was dated October 1EEE

BE. The list information thal the autksr wis ahls Lo
dizcaver concerning Linooln's wheresbouts was a
LAHE roport.,

&7. The nuthor bas mostalgic memories of the “good
ald daya™ when be could walk from the lamily
home in ke Victoria Park: Helsday Park section of
Fert Laudendals to Uho dewnlows ares sny time ol
day or might witksus fear of being mvagged, robbed.,
nasantted, or murdsred. He remambers the days
when citicera ooald keop their houses and mars
usleched withoul Ser of bbing robbed. In the
years following Warld War 11, when ke wns a
#udent 81 the Unrveraity of Mia=i, the aulthes
rould take s bos from Coral Gables te the down-
tewn section of Miass and then walk sevemil
blocks frem the bus terminal to n motion pieture
Ehirair &4 nagit, wilhoal any fearofbeing seagmnd,
robbed, assaalied, or evardered.

58, During the awtber's iy yeams of studying and
FesiFeing history and historieal figuses, Judge
doseph A Pestl, Jr. is perhaps the most unbaliee-
bl persan that hus come b bis attemstion. Ho was
eoriasmly a "Dy, Jekyll and Mr. Hyde" chamctir.
He didl meot hiwwe mny of the gualities that aro row
il Lo @xeush crimica] bihavies, Hé was nol
poar, o lener, o schoal dropoot, nor was he on
drogs. He cassy frees & pood fasily, was well-
oiucated, and had professional status. He was
wnll-dressad, had & winning porsonality, isspee.
eable manners, and knew how to deal with the
public. Joe Posl certainly knew how to “gatkar in
the vetéa™ [f Pesl had taken ths convenisnal
path to pelitical pecoess, ha could have “had 7 all”
Bt instead ho lot extresse greed get the best of
him and took the criminal short-cut &0 power,
richis, and plander. Joe Peel reached the limicef
ks eriminal emterprise when he Bacame tha boes
af 1k *Burder Unlimited Carg.” whick in 1855
was directed from the West Palm Beach Mumici-
pal Court.



